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Monday, March 1, 2010

--- Upon commencing at 9:30 a.m.

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.

The Board is sitting this morning further to a procedural order issued on January 20th.  That order concerned an application filed on December 23rd by Dawn Gateway Pipeline Limited Partnership, under sections 36 and 90 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, for approval of a regulatory framework for the Ontario portion of the Dawn Gateway Pipeline, including charging tolls and negotiated prices and for leave to construct approximately 17 kilometres of 24-inch-diameter steel natural gas pipeline in the County of Lambton.

May I have the appearances, please?
Appearances:

MS. WONG:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  My name is Sharon Wong.  I am here for the applicant, Dawn Gateway Pipeline Limited Partnership.  With me on my left is Mr. Mark Kitchen from Union Gas and Mr. Mark Murray from Union Gas.

In the back of the room is Mr. Peter Cianci from DTE.  He is the president of DTE Pipeline Company and the co-president, along with Mr. Steve Baker, of Dawn Gateway Pipeline general partnership.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  Peter Thompson for the Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Thompson.

MR. QUINN:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  Dwayne Quinn on behalf of the Federation of Rental Housing Providers of Ontario.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Quinn.

MR. ROSS:  Murray Ross from TransCanada Pipelines.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Ross.

MR. MONDROW:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman, Panel members.  Ian Mondrow for IGUA.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Mondrow.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Good morning, Ljuba Djurdjevic, counsel for Board Staff.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Ms. Wong.
Preliminary Matters:

MS. WONG:  Sir, I have a few preliminary matters before we get started.

At the end of the table there is a short biography of all of the members of the witness panels, which I don't believe the Panel has yet.  Perhaps if one of the Board Staff can pass it up for you?

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.

MS. WONG:  There is also a statement of the qualification of Mr. Chris Tuckwell.  As you may know, one of the witnesses who we had planned to call was ill and Mr. Tuckwell is filling in for that person.  And so his statement of qualifications is there, as well.  Perhaps we could mark those documents as exhibits.

MR. KAISER:  Yes.

MS. WONG:  The biography would be the first exhibit.

MR. KAISER:  May I have a number, please?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  K 1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  BIOGRAPHIES OF WITNESS PANEL MEMBERS

MS. WONG:  And the statement of qualifications, Mr. Tuckwell, along with all of the rest that were filed electronically last week, would be K1.2.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  STATEMENTS OF WITNESS QUALIFICATIONS.

MS. WONG:  The next exhibit would be a document that was also filed electronically last week, so I hope the Panel Members have it.  It is the matrix entitled "Proposed Witness Panels" that gives a breakdown of the various sections of the evidence that the witness would be responsible for.

MR. KAISER:  Apparently Staff doesn't have it either.

MS. WONG:  We can make a copy over the break, perhaps.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.

MS. WONG:  We will mark that as K1.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  MATRIX ENTITLED "PROPOSED WITNESS PANELS"

MS. WONG:  There are a few small corrections to be made to the prefiled evidence.  It might be helpful if you have your book in front of you with the prefiled evidence.

These corrections both relate to matters that were already mentioned in the interrogatory responses, so the information itself is not new.  It is just the evidence itself needed to be updated.

The first one is section 4, page 11, paragraph 31, and that paragraph refers to the filing of the audited financial statements.  The word "confidentially" can be struck out.  Dawn Gateway is prepared to file those statements publicly.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MS. WONG:  The next is on the next page, 12, paragraph 32.  That's the paragraph relating to STAR, and, as you know from the interrogatories, Dawn Gateway is now not requesting any exemption from STAR, so that entire paragraph can be struck out.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MS. WONG:  That's it for the corrections to the prefiled.  There are a couple of corrections to the interrogatory responses.

Board Staff IR 20(b) - Staff 20(b) - the question asked which companies listed on the Dawn Gateway org. chart owned and operate pipeline systems.  The answer given was Spectra Energy and DT Energy Corp., and that answer is correct in the sense that those corporations are holding companies that own companies that themselves own pipelines, but those holding companies don't actually hold the physical pipelines.

On the org charts, the companies that own the physical pipelines are Westcoast Energy and DTE Pipeline Company.

The next correction is to IGUA 4(a).  That question asked for the length of the term of the precedent agreements, and the answer given was five years.  In fact, of the five precedent agreements, only three are for five years.  One is for seven years and one is for ten years.

And those are the corrections to interrogatories.  There are a couple of other updates on the land side relating to some comments received from the MNR, and also another settlement agreement with one landowner, but what I propose to do is get into that in detail with the next witness panel.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.

MS. WONG:  Those are all of the corrections.  There are two sets of filings which I think should be marked as exhibits.  The first filing would be the settlement agreement with the landowners with GAPLO, and Mr. Vogel from Cohen Highly filed that document with the Board on February 12th, 2010.  And perhaps we could make that entire letter and all of the attachments the next exhibit.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Exhibit K1.4.

MS. WONG:  K1.4.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That's right.

MS. WONG:  Thank you.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  LETTER DATED FEBRUARY 12, 2010 FROM MR. VOGEL, COHEN HIGHLY, TOGETHER WITH ATTACHMENTS.

MS. WONG:  And on Friday, I filed with the Board a letter dated February 26th that had a number of documents attached to it.  What I propose to do is mark each of those documents individually for ease of reference.

So this is a letter dated February 26th, 2010.  The first attachment was the revised tariff for Dawn Gateway, including a clean copy and a blacklined copy.  Does everyone have that?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be K1.5.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  REVISED TARIFF FOR DAWN GATEWAY, TOGETHER WITH CLEAN COPY AND BLACKLINED COPY.

MS WONG:  So the tariff is K1.5.

I will just give Ms. Spoel a chance to find it.

MS. SPOEL:  I have it.

MS. WONG:  The next document is the proposed code of conduct for Dawn Gateway, and that will be K1.6.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.6:  PROPOSED CODE OF CONDUCT FOR DAWN GATEWAY.

MS. WONG:  And there should be a services agreement attached to that.  That will be K1.7.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.7:  SERVICES AGREEMENT.

MS. WONG:  And behind that --

MS. CHAPLIN:  Ms. Wong, do you have any extra hard copies of these documents?

MS. WONG:  I do have one extra copy.

MS. CHAPLIN:  If I could have that, that would be helpful.  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Is it just one schedule to the service agreement?

MS. WONG:  Let me take a look, sir.  I am pretty sure you have everything on the services agreement, just the one schedule.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.

MS. WONG:  On the project development agreement, which is the next document, there were some redactions, not of any page in particular, but I believe some of the project costs were redacted, as indicated in the letter.  And that will be K1.8, project development agreement.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.8:  PROJECT DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.

MS. WONG:  I am not sure as to the procedure, but perhaps you might want to mark the prefiled evidence and interrogatories as exhibits at this point?

MR. KAISER:  All right.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We can refer to the application evidence, and I am going to include with that the updated evidence that was filed on February 22, 2010, we will make that K1.9.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.9:  APPLICATION EVIDENCE AND UPDATES FILED FEBRUARY 22, 2010

MS. COCHRANE:  Do you want to make the interrogatory responses individual exhibits from each intervenor or...

MS. WONG:  I think that might be best.

MS. COCHRANE:  We have Board Staff interrogatory responses, that will be K1.10.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.10: BOARD STAFF INTERROGATORY RESPONSES

MS. COCHRANE:  CME's interrogatory responses, K1.11.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.11:  CME INTERROGATORY RESPONSES


MS. COCHRANE:  And IGUA's K1.12.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.12:  IGUA INTERROGATORY RESPONSES

MS. COCHRANE:  Did I miss anybody?  That's all I have.

MS. WONG:  No, I think that's it.

Regarding the hearing itself, sir, we received an e-mail from Board Staff asking the parties to be prepared to do oral argument tomorrow.  And Dawn Gateway fully supports that procedure of having oral argument.  As you know from the company's evidence, time truly is of the essence and the company's requesting an order no later than March 11, in order to have sufficient time to confirm its pipe order.  That pipe order has to be confirmed by the close of business on March 11th.

Those are all of the preliminary matters, sir.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Are you ready to call your first panel?

MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Chairman, I wonder if I might interject.  I apologize for the interruption.  In respect to the argument schedule, I did not see an e-mail from Board Staff so I wonder if I can clarify whether the intention is for the applicant to do oral argument and the parties to file shortly thereafter or whether everyone is to do oral argument tomorrow.

MR. KAISER:  I think we were hoping to have everyone's.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.

MS. WONG:  If the witnesses could be sworn, sir, I have Mark Isherwood, Steve Baker, Chris Tuckwell.
DAWN GATEWAY PIPELINE LIMITED – PANEL 1


Mark Isherwood; Sworn.

Steve Baker; Sworn.

Chris Tuckwell; Sworn.
Opening Statement by Ms. Wong:

MS. WONG:  Now, sir, this morning I filed a short biography for the various witnesses, and what I have done is given you all of my copies of it, so let me see if I can get a copy.

In the middle is Mr. Steve Baker, who is one of the two co-presidents of Dawn Gateway Pipeline.  Mr. Baker is also the Vice President for business development, storage and transmission at Union Gas.  He started work at Union in 1989.  He is a chartered accountant and has a B.A. in chartered accountancy and a masters of accounting.

Mr. Baker will be dealing with policy matters regarding the development of the Dawn Gateway Pipeline, including the form of regulation requested and the benefits to Ontario customers as a result of the development of the pipeline.

Mr. Isherwood is on the far right.  He is the director of business development, storage and transmission for Union Gas and he has been with Union since 1982.

He has a bachelor of engineering, a bachelor of commerce, and masters of business administration and is a member of the Professional Engineers of Ontario.

Mr. Isherwood will be speaking about the services agreement between Union and Dawn Gateway, the proposed Code of Conduct for Dawn Gateway, and also about the form of the regulation requested.

And at the far end is Mr. Chris Tuckwell.  He is the assistant controller of Union Gas responsible for financial reporting, internal controls, and the IFRS transition project.  He joined Union in 2002, he has a bachelor of arts and bachelor of commerce and chartered accountant.  Mr. Tuckwell will speak about how Union will track its costs related to the Dawn Gateway Pipeline.

That is the first panel, sir.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.
Examination by Ms. Wong:

MS. WONG:  I have a very brief cross -- or examination in-chief.

Mr. Baker, you heard me this morning go through some of the corrections in the evidence.  Are you familiar with those corrections and do you agree with those?

MR. BAKER:  I am aware of them and agree, yes.

MS. WONG:  And were you involved in the preparation of the prefiled evidence for Dawn Gateway.

MR. BAKER:  Yes, I was.

MS. WONG:  And are you aware of any other corrections that need to be made to the evidence, apart from the ones we have talked about this morning?

MR. BAKER:  No, I'm not.

MS. WONG:  Do you -- as far as you know, is all of the prefiled evidence and interrogatories true?

MR. BAKER:  Yes.

MS. WONG:  Now, Mr. Baker, I understand you have a brief statement that you prepared to make this morning?

MR. BAKER:  Yes, I do.

MS. WONG:  Could you go ahead and do that now, please.

MR. BAKER:  Yes, thank you.  I just wanted to make a couple of brief remarks, really to outline what we, as Dawn Gateway are seeking in this application and why and to also highlight some of the modifications, some of which have already been talked about this morning from our application that was originally filed with the Board.

First, I wanted to note that I did make some opening remarks in the Union leave to sell application, in terms of the background behind Dawn Gateway, what we were trying to achieve and the benefits.  I won't repeat those there but we talked about the fact we were trying to have an integrated transportation service from Belle River Mills, Michigan to Dawn and to tie in Michigan storage better with Ontario and to help access additional supplies into Ontario.

This Dawn Gateway application in front of the Board really arises out of that St. Clair leave to sell application where the Board noted that the development of the Dawn Gateway Pipeline would provide benefits to Ontario, in terms of additional supply and liquidity at the Dawn hub.  And having found that Dawn Gateway would benefit Ontario through enhanced access to supply and enhanced interconnection to storage invited submissions on the appropriate regulatory framework, which is why we are here today.

Specifically what Dawn Gateway is seeking in this application is, first, the approval of an alternate regulatory framework that would be consistent with NEB group 2, regulation for the Ontario portion of the Dawn Gateway Pipeline, and really Dawn Gateway would operate as an at-risk pipeline under this new framework.

The new framework would be a complaints-base regulatory framework as opposed to a traditional cost of service framework and would provide for the ability of Dawn Gateway to charge negotiated rates under an approved Ontario Energy Board tariff.

Second, we are looking for approval of the tolls and tariffs for Dawn Gateway which, again, would reflect the complaints-based framework, regulatory framework that we are seeking.

Third, we are seeking approval of this Board to construct approximately 17 kilometres of new pipeline between Union's Bickford compressor station and Dawn.

Next I wanted to just highlight some of the key modifications related to the application that I feel are worthy of noting.

First, in terms of the Affiliate Relationship Code.  Dawn Gateway's view is that the Affiliate Relationship Code does not apply to the relationship between Dawn Gateway and Union or MichCon because Dawn Gateway is a 50-50 partnership between Spectra Energy and DT Energy, where neither Spectra nor DTE have control.

So as such, there is no affiliate relationship between Dawn Gateway and any of the parties or entities within Spectra or DTE.

That said, we felt it was important to highlight for the Board the fact that both Spectra and DTE have internally codes of business ethics for both companies.  They're very broad.  They encompass things like the Affiliate Relationship Code and the requirement and expectation that all employees are both aware of the Code and adhere to the Code of business ethics and all other jobs and all other roles.

In the case of Spectra specifically, all employees are required to complete training on the Code of Business Ethics every year annually.  They have to sign off that they understand the code and that they adhere to it in all that they do.

It is also understood that, by all employees, a failure to act consistent with the code will result in disciplinary action up to and including termination.

In the case of Dawn Gateway, because as I mentioned there are two equal and independent partners, one partner would not allow the other partner to unfairly benefit from its relationship with Dawn Gateway.  But despite that practical reality, Dawn Gateway has taken the initial step to develop its own Code of Conduct, specific to Dawn Gateway, in order to emphasize the values by which we will operate the pipe and manage the pipeline.

And the Code of Conduct specifically prohibits Dawn Gateway from granting any preferential access to the pipeline to any related parties such as Union or MichCon.

Further, to minimize the potential for cross-subsidization of Dawn Gateway by Union's regulated ratepayers, Union is capturing and separating its costs related to the development of Dawn Gateway in a manner consistent with the costs associated with Union's unregulated storage business.

It is felt that -- while it is felt that these issues are really specific to Union Gas and its regulatory process and not Dawn Gateway specifically, we do understand from Board Staff that there was an interest in this matter and, as such, as Ms. Wong mentioned, that's why we have Mr. Tuckwell here this morning with us.

Second, in terms of the storage and transportation access rules, or STARs, again, as was covered this morning, our initial application was based on the premise that the STAR would not apply.  However, as noted in various interrogatory responses, we are no longer now seeking to be exempted from the STAR.

In terms of financial statements, again, we had proposed to file those confidentially with the Board initially and we have updated our evidence to commit to file those publicly with this Board, consistent with what group 2 pipelines do under the NEB.

In terms of the Dawn Gateway agreements that were marked this morning, while Dawn Gateway is still in the process of developing the project and the agreements, we did file the two agreements that were referenced this morning, the first being the development agreement, which really governs the development and the construction of the new Bickford to Dawn pipeline, and the second one being the field services agreement, which governs the ongoing maintenance and operation of the Ontario portion of the Dawn Gateway pipeline.

In terms of the development agreement, there are two fees contained within that -- within that agreement related to services and payments that Dawn Gateway will make to Union Gas.

The first fee is a two-and-a-half-million-dollar management fee, and this fee is specifically related to the Board's decision in the St. Clair leave to sell application and really reflects a negotiated settlement between Dawn Gateway and Union Gas.

So in the St. Clair leave to sell decision, the Board ruled that Union would be required to allocate an amount to ratepayers to mitigate the harm associated with the sale of the St. Clair line, and while the Board has not yet ruled on that specific amount or what the final allocation will be, we know that Union asked the allocation to be set at around 3.9 million and intervenors had different numbers that they were proposing.

But I guess the salient point for this morning is the two-and-a-half-million-dollar management fee contained in the development agreement is the amount that Dawn Gateway will fund to partially compensate Union for the amount that it will ultimately have to allocate to its ratepayers, and it reflects the maximum amount that Dawn Gateway is prepared to accept as a project cost.

To the extent that that ultimate amount is greater than the two-and-a-half million, it will not flow to the Dawn Gateway partnership.  It will be -- that difference in amount will remain with Union Gas.

The second fee is a $700,000 success fee, and this is tied to Union Gas managing and constructing the project within the agreed-to capital budget for Dawn Gateway.  And this fee is contingent on the successful completion of the project within the capital budget.

Lastly, as was also mentioned, we are seeking a decision from the Board inclusive of any conditions that may flow from this proceeding on, or preferably before, March 11th.  And as mentioned, this timing is really related to the fact that we have ordered the pipeline for Dawn Gateway and we have the ability to cancel that pipeline order, up to and including by March 11th, without incurring any penalties.

To the extent that we were unable to get a decision by the March 11th date, Dawn Gateway would be in a position where we would be unable to commit to the pipeline and, therefore, unable to meet the targeted November 1, 2010 in-service date.

That concludes my comments.  Thank you.

MS. WONG:  That is the entire examination-in-chief, sir.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Baker, you referred to the code of conduct.

MR. BAKER:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  And, in particular, you referred to the related party transaction aspect of that, and also, of course, the non-preferential treatment.

The non-preferential treatment says that:
"In the administration of DG's tariffs, contracts and operations, and including the provision of the information in a timely manner to all shippers, DG would at all times treat its shippers equally.  DG will not give preferential access to the system to any related party or to any shipper on the system.  DG will process all similar requests for service in a uniform manner."

And how is it that the shippers and other interested parties would get notice of this commitment?

MR. BAKER:  We will file the code of conduct.

MR. KAISER:  So that would that become part of your tariff?

MR. BAKER:  I don't believe we are suggesting it to be part of the tariff, but we would post it on our website.

MR. KAISER:  I guess that answers my second question.  Under related party transaction, you say:
"DG will post the names of any related party with whom it contracts to provide transportation."

I presume that would be on the website, as well?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Thompson, are you up to bat?

MR. THOMPSON:  I guess so.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson:

MR. THOMPSON:  Just on a couple of points, Mr. Baker.  In your evidence-in-chief, the 2.5 management fee that you described, is that -- as I understand it, that relates to the amount that the Board is considering that Union has to pay to ratepayers over and above the net book value of the St. Clair line.

Have I got that straight?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And there is an unresolved debate before the Board.  You take the view, I think, the number is around $4 million and others have it as high as $8 million; is that fair?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so the -- whatever that amount is determined to be, Dawn Gateway is going to pay 2.5 million of that sum?

MR. BAKER:  To Union Gas, that's right.

MR. THOMPSON:  To Union Gas.  And how is that going to be accounted for in Dawn Gateway?  Is that a one-time operating cost?  Is it a capital cost?

MR. BAKER:  That would form part of the capital cost of the project.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Thanks.

So from Dawn Gateway's perspective, the capital cost of the St. Clair line would be its net book value of in the order of $5 million?

MR. BAKER:  That's right.

MR. THOMPSON:  Plus this 2.5, for a total of $7.5 million?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Then the success fee that Dawn Gateway is going to pay to Union; do I understand that correctly?

MR. BAKER:  That's right.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is that up to $700,000?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  So could you just help us with what Union has to do to get it?

MR. BAKER:  What Union has to do is manage the project within the targeted capital cost contained in the development agreement.  To the extent that we don't do that, if the project comes in over that targeted budget, then there will be no amount paid.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And, again, in terms of the accounting for that within Dawn Gateway, is that a capital item or a one-time operating expense item?  Can you help me there?

MR. BAKER:  That would be part of the capital cost.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thanks.

Then in terms of the total capital cost to Dawn Gateway of the project over and above these amounts would be the construction cost of the Bickford to Dawn segment?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And there are numbers in the record in confidence with respect to that aspect of the matter.  Do those numbers need to continue to be held in confidence for the purposes of this case?

MR. BAKER:  Yes.

MS. WONG:  I should point out, Mr. Thompson, I believe those numbers were only filed in the St. Clair case.  So if you want them to be filed confidentially in this case, perhaps we should make arrangements to do so.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I was hoping we could just refer to them as having been filed in a prior case, but you want me to actually identify documents in the St. Clair case that we would bring into this case?

MS. WONG:  I think that might be best, just so that we're all on the same page.  And if we are going to talk about it, because the filings were confidential, I would request that that portion of the evidence also be confidential if you are going to get into the numbers.

MR. KAISER:  Our view of it, I believe, is that we had adopted the record in that case for the purpose of this case.

MS. WONG:  I wasn't aware of that, sir, but are you adopting the entire record?

MR. KAISER:  Well, for the sake of efficiency.  Is there a problem with that?

MS. WONG:  Well, Dawn Gateway had requested that the portions that -- to be adopted would be identified just so that we are all clear on what is going in.  But if the Board's view is that everything goes in...

MR. KAISER:  We only did that for purpose of efficiency, without spending time going through it.  Is there any problem with adopting the records of that case for the purpose of this case?

MS. WONG:  No, that's fine.

MR. KAISER:  Let's proceed on that basis.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.

Okay, so, let me then move back to my planned cross.

First of all, just a few questions on the structure of the arrangement now.  Initially when you filed -- when Union filed the application, the evidence as I recall it, was that Dawn Gateway, the limited partnership, was going to buy the three segments, three existing segments, the Belle River segments, the St. Clair crossing and the St. Clair line.

Just stopping there, was that the initial vision, as you recall it, when the application was filed?

MR. BAKER:  I think the only -- I believe the only difference was that at the time we were contemplating either a purchase or a lease on the Belle River Mills line.  We had not made a determination at that time.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And then I recall that in the evidence in the Union application, the decision to lease Belle River had been made.  So the purchase had been ruled out and my recollection is you had a long-term lease in mind, because of some tax benefits on the US side.

MR. BAKER:  That's right.  A long-term lease with an option to purchase at some future date.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, is that still the plan for the Belle River segment?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, in terms of the St. Clair crossing, the plan initially was to buy it and now I understand the plan is to enter into a long-term transportation arrangement for St. Clair.

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  When you say long-term, what does that mean?  How many years?

MR. BAKER:  I believe it is 20 years.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, has that deal been done yet?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No, it has not.

MR. THOMPSON:  When do you expect that deal to be done?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  As soon as we get a decision on this case, it would be shortly after that.  A bunch of agreements are still kind of in process.  That would be one we would do shortly thereafter.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  In terms of the cost of that to Dawn Gateway, there -- let me back up.

Right now Union, as I understand it, has a contract with St. Clair and acquires all of St. Clair's capacity.  Is that right?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And in the evidence in the last case, the cost of that, the toll for that, as I recall it, was $342,000 per year?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Something like that.  That's fair.  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Will you take that subject to check?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's fair.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So is that the toll that Dawn Gateway is going to pay?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Still to be negotiated, actually.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, what does that mean?  It could be higher or lower?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It could be higher, it could be lower.

MR. THOMPSON:  Why would it be higher?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is being negotiated between St. Clair pipeline and Dawn Gateway.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, that is not a very tough negotiation, is it?  I mean you are all friends.  Why would it be higher than the toll?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is more likely to be the same or lower, to be fair.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Now, the St. Clair line, the plan is to own that and acquire it from Union.

In the debate that is going on about how much ratepayers should get, Union, as I understand it, is taking the position this transaction, the purchase transaction is going to be completed in March of 2010.  Is that correct?

MR. BAKER:  That's fair.

MR. THOMPSON:  And so if you get, in this case, the approval for the leave to construct Bickford, the Bickford to Dawn, is the purchase a "go"?  Or are there some other things hanging out there that you need?

MR. BAKER:  I think in total, we need certainty on all aspects of this application.  So it would be leave to construct the Bickford to Dawn piece.  It would be a decision in this application on approval for the form of regulation that we're seeking, along with any conditions, as well as the Board's final decision in the leave to sell the St. Clair line on the final ratepayer harm amount as well.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let's just explore that a little bit.

Let's just take the ratepayer harm issue.  Your proposal is 4 million, I think I am as high as eight.  A major component of the differential is whether the St. Clair toll is in or out of the subsidy calculation.  Would you agree with that?

MR. BAKER:  That's my understanding, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Are you the man I should be speaking to about this?

MR. BAKER:  I guess it depends what you're going to ask.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the -- with the St. Clair toll and the subsidy calculation, your number becomes, give or take, $6.5 million, there is then a dispute about interest.  And our number goes higher because we factor in z-factor implications in considering the completion date.

But assume the number is $6.5 million, is it a go or is it not a go?

MR. BAKER:  I just don't think I can answer that question fully today, because there are still, as I said, this is not just a matter of one decision.  There is a number of things that are at play here that we would need to have all of them to decide whether we're going forward on the project.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Assume you get a decision on March 10th that says the number is $6.5 million, what happens then?  Are we then waiting for you folks to come back to us?

MR. BAKER:  Well, it would be -- we realize the fact that we're going to have to make a fairly quick decision here because of the time frame that we're under, to hit a 2010 in-service date.  So it would need to be practically a pretty quick turnaround, incorporating all of the decisions that this Board will need to make.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, in the interrogatory responses to Board Staff, I don't know that I have the number right at hand.  You do mention the ordering of the pipe and this point you were mentioning in-chief about the March 11th date.  Let me just see if I can find that.

Can you help me with the interrogatory, where that is discussed?

MR. BAKER:  I will try.

MS. WONG:  Are you just looking for the interrogatory talking about the ordering of the pipe?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  And the renegotiation of the cancellation date.  28?  It is Board Staff No. 28.

So this is Exhibit K1.10, interrogatory 28.  Do you have that, Mr. Baker?

MR. BAKER:  Yes, we do.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  It says here in sub (c) that:
"Approval is requested by March 11.  Pipe has been ordered and Dawn Gateway has obtained an extension of the no cost cancellation to accommodate the above date."

When was that extension obtained?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The initial pipe order was placed early January, and in that order we had an out, a no-cost out until I think February 26th, if I remember correctly.

We had asked the Board initially for a decision by about the same time.  When we saw the hearing schedule, hearing on March 1st, we went back to the pipe company and asked for an extension as long as we possibly could and they gave us until February 11th -- or, sorry, March 11th.

MR. THOMPSON:  So at the time you requested that extension, the debate as to whether it is four or eight was out in the open and on the table?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  So you made that request for an extension, knowing that you were exposed to as much as $8 million?

MR. BAKER:  That's right.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  All right.  So do I understand correctly, then, that if you get what you are asking from this Board, it is a go?  The deal closes on March 11th in terms of acquiring the St. Clair line?

MR. BAKER:  Again, I am trying to be clear.  We  need -- there is really, you know, a number of things at play.  There is the Board's final decision on the amount of the ratepayer harm.  There is the Board's decision in this case on the regulatory framework and the leave to construct.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But my question is:  If you get a result from this Board along the lines of what you are asking for, then the sale will be completed by March 11th?

MR. BAKER:  I guess what I'm saying is that for the sale to be completed means that we have made a decision in total, based on all of the decisions of this Board, that the project will proceed.

And so it won't just be a decision in this case.  As I said, it does -- it will also take into account the decision in the St. Clair leave to construct application.

MR. THOMPSON:  I appreciate that.  So I guess maybe I should say, when the St. Clair leave to construct application decisions are rendered and the decisions in this case are rendered, are we done in terms of what you are waiting for?

MR. BAKER:  Yes, we are.  We will have everything that we need to make a decision.

MR. THOMPSON:  So that regardless of what happens on the US side, for regulatory purposes in Ontario we can treat this deal as having been done as of March 2009, assuming you accept what the Board has ruled on as being reasonable?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And so if something goes wrong on the US side -- is there any prospect of that?

MR. BAKER:  Sorry, could you just repeat that?  I didn't hear.

MR. THOMPSON:  If something goes wrong on the US side -- the US issues, based on some information you have provided again in interrogatories, are not going to be resolved until the third quarter of 2010, as I understand it.

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But regardless of what happens over there, as I understand it, here in Ontario for regulatory purposes we can -- ratepayers can treat the St. Clair line as having been disposed of to Dawn Gateway and they will be entitled to, if you folks approve the -- or if you don't crater the deal on what the Board decides, the amount they're entitled to will go into the deferral account.  This is the amount over and above net book value?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So if -- I just want to understand the regulatory implications of that for Union customers, if I may; that is, the deal being treated for regulatory purposes as having been completed in March 2010.

Am I correct that rate base will be reduced by $5 million?  That is the net book value of the St. Clair line?  That's Union's rate base?

MR. BAKER:  I believe that is what is contemplated to happen.

MR. THOMPSON:  Are we correct that in addition to the --

MR. BAKER:  I should say that -- and I am trying to remember.  I seem to remember that there was some discussion in terms of when that adjustment to rate base would happen, and, I apologize, but I just can't remember where all of the positions on that ended up.

So I will have to check that at break and get back to you, if that is any different.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, I think what you are getting at, you are in the midst of an IRM regime, and I think your initial evidence said, We are not going to rebase until 2013.  And certainly my client is saying this is a Z factor type of issue.

So I take your point that when this happens may be a debate?

MR. BAKER:  That's right.

MR. THOMPSON:  But let's just focus on what happens when it happens, okay?

So the rate base amount will be reduced by approximately $5 million, and the return in taxes on and depreciation on rate base will come out of cost of service --

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- when this happens, when it is brought into account?

MR. BAKER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  In addition, there will be the O&M expenses and property tax expenses that will come out when this is accounted for?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, can we just confirm for the record, in this case, that the total of those amounts based on, I think it is, Exhibit J1.1 in the 0411 case, the St. Clair River crossing toll is one item.  Would you take, subject to check, that is $342,000?

MR. BAKER:  Yes, we will accept that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Then for operating, maintenance, insurance, property taxes, capital taxes, would you take, subject to check, that that is almost $150,000?

MR. BAKER:  Sorry, that was $150,000?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, 150, roughly.

MR. BAKER:  I will take that subject to check.

MR. THOMPSON:  It is probably a little bit less than that, but that is the ballpark.

Would you take, subject to check, the depreciation amount is about $276,000?

MR. BAKER:  I believe you are referring to monthly amounts.  Oh, no, those are annual amounts.  You are correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  It is annual?

MR. BAKER:  No, you are correct.  It is annual.

MR. THOMPSON:  I was just taking these numbers off J1.1.

MR. BAKER:  Yes.  We have the schedule now.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.

Then in terms of the return on taxes amount, would you take, subject to check, it is about $564,000?  That is not in J1.1.  That is coming out of a calculation that is linked to the rate base.  It is a number I think you provided in your evidence in a calculation phase.

MR. BAKER:  That sounds about right, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  So it is the sum of those numbers, then, that would be coming out of cost of service annually, whenever this adjustment takes place; is that fair?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Okay, let's move, then, from that to your regulatory framework proposal.  And it was pointed out in opening this morning that this has evolved somewhat since you initially filed the evidence in this proceeding.

In other words, it was initially NEB group 2 equivalency with confidentiality and no STAR compliance, as I understood it?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now it is NEB group 2 equivalency with STAR compliance?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And that change has occurred during the course of the discovery process?

MR. BAKER:  I think it has changed on that time frame, but it is really -- at the time we put the evidence in, the STAR was fairly new.  We needed some time to educate our partner and to look in more detail at the provisions of STAR, and that is what led to the change.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, we would just like to understand with a little more precision exactly what is now being proposed.  So could I start with the STAR compliance aspect of this, and I assume you have or at least I hope you have a copy of STAR at hand.

What I am referring to is a document the Board circulated on December 92009 entitled "Notice of Issuance of a New Rule, Storage and Transportation Access Rule (STAR)".  Do you folks have that?

MR. BAKER:  We have that.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We do.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I would like to just take you through this at a fairly high level, to understand what it is you folks are proposing, in terms of complying with the STAR.

So the first main section that I want to refer to is section 2 and it is entitled:   Non-discriminatory access to transportation services.

Do you have that in front of you, panel?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, we do.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the first item 2.1.1 says:
"A transmitter's methods for allocating transportation capacity shall be defined in its tariff."

Now, is that something that is included in these updated documents that were filed the 26th of February?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, it is.

MR. THOMPSON:  Could you just draw our attention to where we find that in the tariff.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  General terms and conditions.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So this is part of -- I didn't get the number for this exhibit, but --

MS. WONG:  It is K1.5.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- K1.5, and there is a black-line version after the clean version.  Do I go to page 16 of the black line version to see this?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So there it is, paragraph 27.  Could you just tell us how that works?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The allocation of capacity really applies to an open season process, and during open season process, parties would bid both the cost or value of the transportation, so the price.  They would bid the quantity and they would bid the term of the agreement, as well.

So it is a fairly common process in open seasons actually to do an analysis of the net present value of each bid.  So from open season points of view, the capacity would be allocated based on net present value.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So just to do a "for instance."  If I bought one unit at a dollar for one year, and somebody else bids one unit at 90 cents but for two years, does the second bidder win?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  In most cases it would.  It depends on the discounts factor but it would in most cases.

MR. THOMPSON:  So you multiply the unit price times the term and then do your NPV?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  You actually look at the value of every year, then you discount each year's revenue back to the beginning based on the discount factor.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thank you.  All right.  Then STAR goes on in this allocation of transportation capacity, I am looking now at 2.1.3:
"Firm transportation service that has been offered in an open season but not awarded in that open season may be allocated by other methods as defined in the transmitter's tariff as per section 2.1.1."

What is -- sorry, just before I ask this question.

In the evidence, there was some suggestion that if you didn't award it in open season, then you would do so through the phrase was "direct negotiations."

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, is that in the tariff somewhere?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It may not be specifically stated in the tariff but that would be the intent.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  What are direct negotiations?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It would be either a shipper, a potential shipper approaching Dawn Gateway Pipeline looking for transportation service or it could be Dawn Gateway approaching potential shippers for service.  So it would be more of a one-to-one type of negotiation.

MR. THOMPSON:  Can Dawn Gateway enter into direct negotiations with Union?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, they can.

MR. THOMPSON:  And can Dawn Gateway enter into direct negotiations with DTE or DTE-related entities?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Dawn Gateway can, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Could you tell us how you plan to avoid creating preferences in - if that is the scenario that materializes?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It goes back to the whole 50-50 partnership.  It is really from a point of view of doing a deal with either MichCon or Union Gas, the other party, in the case of Union Gas would be DTE.

So DTE is going to be looking for the maximum value possible for Dawn Gateway Pipeline.  They're not going to compromise and allow Union to have a discounted rate or a cheaper rate than what the market would otherwise prevail.  Likewise, Union Gas or Spectra would not allow DTE to enter into a special arrangement with MichCon at an under-market value.  That is covered off in the Code of Conduct.

MR. THOMPSON:  But is the negotiation -- I mean certainly you don't go up to the president every time you have a negotiation, do you?

Do you convene the 50-50 gang and say, Now, can we go through this or can we not go through this?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The 50-50 gang is two people, so it is not a big gang.  Actually the shareholder agreement and the LP agreement cover that off in great detail, as well in that any agreement that is done with a related party has to be done at prevailing market conditions.

And it is through that agreement where the individual managers of the company, DTE and Spectra, would have a chance to vote on related-party type of arrangement.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, I will come back to the preferences issue a little bit later.

Am I correct, then, that under your current proposition, DGLP will comply with or plans to comply with everything set out in 2.1 of STAR?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The only exceptions we're asking for really was identified in the one interrogatory which I think --

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  They're there in 13 --

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Right.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- and they relate to article 4 as I understood it.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Right.  We would comply to the rest of STAR.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Similarly, then, with respect to the standards for transportation open season, it is the proposal that DGLP will comply with every aspect of the requirements set out in section 2.2.1 of STAR?  Is that correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Just going to, if you wouldn't mind, to I guess it is 2.2.1(ii), paragraph (M), dealing with information the bidder is required to include in its bid.

Then there are -- I don't know if this all hangs together.  No.  Sorry I have this mistaken.  It is article 2.2.1(iv) and (v) where it is talking about posting of information in terms of this open season process.

And (iv) contemplates posting of information with respect to successful bids, and (v) contemplates keeping information as the Board may require from time to time.

Do you see that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I do.

MR. THOMPSON:  My question is:  When the information with respect to bids is posted in article (iv), does that information include price?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.  As (iv) reads:
"The successful bid will include the following information:  term, volume and receipt and delivery points"

So we would post that.

MR. THOMPSON:  But the information you keep includes price in (v)?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  (v), as that reads, includes a broader group, including price and shipper name.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We would comply to both.

MR. THOMPSON:  Could you help us with the circumstances as to when the Board may require this information from time to time?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's the Board's decision.

MR. THOMPSON:  Coming back to the other aspect of your proposal, which is NEB group 2 equivalency, and someone complains, says to the Board, We are not getting information we need to help us determine what we should pay for this service, is price one of the things the Board, in your view, should see that that complaining party gets?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would say the Board may get, as part of the intervention of the customer asking or issuing or logging the complaint, but not necessarily the customer.

MR. THOMPSON:  Why not?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the customer has access to the market information, and, as we discussed I think in 0411, the pricing for Dawn Gateway is really based on the difference in price between Michigan and Ontario, and it is very public and very active.  It is very available both electronically and in publications.

So if a shipper, potential shipper, wanted know the value of the service, it is quite readily available.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  I will come back to that again when I get to NEB group 2 compliance.

Let's move on to 2.3, "Shipper - Standard Terms of Service and Standard Forms of Contracts For Transportation Services".  Do we understand correctly that the Dawn Gateway plans to comply with all of these provisions of STAR?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Just going over, if you wouldn't mind, to article 2.3.6, where -- well, let me back up.

This provision calls for a standard form contract, first of all?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then if you deviate from that with any particular customer, you have to post, as I understand it, the deviated contract on your website with black lining showing --

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- where it deviates.  Okay.

Right now, you've got five precedent agreements, long-term precedent agreements with five shippers, and they have committed for, I think it is, about 200 -- for about 78 percent of your capacity?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  My question is:  With those shippers, my understanding of your evidence is you are going to transfer them to standard form contracts, if this thing is a "go"?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  So will they all then be on the standard form contract, or are some of them going to fall into the negotiated exception category?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Our expectation today, all five would be standard.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then over with respect to 2.3.6, all of these precedent shippers are negotiated contracts, but because they're standard, they would not fit into this 2.3.6; is that right?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would say none of them will have a negotiated contract.  The contract has some blanks to fill in:  Shipper name, the volume, the term and the price.  The price that each of the five pays will be within the tariff price approved by the Board, as we submitted.

So all we're filling in is blanks around three or four parameters.  So the fact they have a negotiated price does not make a negotiated contract.  The contract would be standard form contract.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thank you.  Now, 2.4 deals with storage companies, so am I correct that doesn't apply to Dawn Gateway?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  2.5 deals with bundling.  Does that have any application to Dawn Gateway?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I don't expect it to, no.

MR. THOMPSON:  What do you mean not expect it to?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Gateway has no storage, so it will not be bundled.  And that is covered off in the Code, as well.

MR. THOMPSON:  Section 3 deals with customer protection within the competitive storage market.  Are we correct that does not apply to Dawn Gateway?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then section 4 deals with reporting requirements, and this is where, as I understand it from your response to Staff 13, you are seeking an exception?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Just a part of it, that's right.

MR. THOMPSON:  So let's just turn up Board Staff 13 so we can understand this, or try and understand it, anyway.

So if we start with Article 4.1.1 of STAR, it says:
"A transmitter ... shall post on its websites the following information:
"i) Index of Customers for transportation contracts, and;
"ii) Operationally-Available Transportation Capacity."

My understanding is that you were seeking an exemption from posting information pertaining to operationally-available transportation capacity, and that phrase is impacted by some other sections in this part of STAR?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, the answer to Staff 13 explains something about MichCon's long-standing practices about accepting nominations.

Could you just help us understand why that prevents Dawn Gateway from reporting operationally-available transportation capacity?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I will explain that and maybe also at the same time perhaps give a bit of a fuller answer to the interrogatory.

We looked at this both from the point of view of shippers and what they would want and need and have asked for, and also what the Dawn Gateway is allowed or able to do.

From a shipper's perspective, the way the tariff is structured, they have the four NAESB windows available to them.  Only the first window or the timely window is the window that they can no nominate on a firm basis.  The other three NAESB windows are on a commercially reasonable efforts basis.

That is partly from the point of view that these shippers are typically going to be large marketers, medium-size marketers and LDCs.  As a result, our expectation for the most part they will nominate at the beginning of the day or beginning of the month, and the nomination will carry for the rest of the month, the rest of the day.  I don't expect to have a lot of activity on the other three nomination windows.

Also, I would also say that because the shippers can only nominate on the first window on a firm basis, having operationally available capacity available to them is really not very valuable from the point of view that the next three windows are only a best efforts basis, really, to do that.

And so to go back to what is in the IR response here, Dawn Gateway will be contracting with DTE Pipeline company which does some nominations today.  They're sort of aligned with the MichCon practice around the 2:00 p.m., which is fairly unique in the industry.  Two p.m. is unique to MichCon.  Most companies have the first nominations at 12:00, 12:30.

So looking at the ability for DTE Company to do it, it is not done today on MichCon in terms of posting operational capacity.  It is not done on either the storage business, the transport business or on the distribution business.  Systems aren't in place.  There is no capacity to do that.

And from the point of view of if you are a shipper on the pipeline, knowing what the operational capacity was available on Dawn Gateway is interesting, but unless you have the same information upstream, downstream, it really is not very useful.

So going back to my beginning, what customers are looking for, asking for, they're not asking for it, not looking for it.  Dawn Gateway can't really provide it.  It is not consistent with what MichCon is otherwise doing or DTE Pipelines is otherwise doing.  For that reason, we are asking for an exemption on this one part of the STAR.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So is the -- it sounds like there is a difference between operationally available transportation capacity and excess capacity.  In other words, 28 percent of the Dawn Gateway has not been contracted for yet.

Is that operationally available transportation capacity or does this phrase mean something else?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  As I understand this phrase and how I would interpret it, at least, would be the pipeline has a capacity as we stated of I think 360,000 decatherms.  What they’re, I understand, trying to get posted here is if you had total nominations equal to say 300,000 and you had a total pipe capacity of 360, then operationally available would be 60,000.  So that number would be a combination to your point of both what's been unsold still and also what has not been nominated under firm contracts.

So it is a bit of both.  It is a combination of both.

MR. THOMPSON:  Why can't you report the excess?  These -- my question, I guess, are you reporting nothing?  Or is the plan to report nothing?  Or is the plan to report something that is less than full operationally available transportation capacity?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'm sorry.  Could you repeat your question?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Just the last part.  I heard the front part.

MR. THOMPSON:  Taking the example where you have excess of 60,000 plus operationally there might be another two or three in there, depending on the way things are playing out, is the plan to report the 60 as being available?  Or is the plan to report nothing?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.  The 60 hopefully will not be available.  Our intent is to sell that on a firm basis first.  If we can't sell it on a firm basis, we will try to sell it on an interruptible basis.  That number will change day-to-day in terms of what is unsold.  As I understand STAR, the intent is to report the unsold and the unnominated.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So will you be reporting the unsold?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  At this point the intent is, no.

MR. THOMPSON:  Why not?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  For the reasons I stated, I guess.  The customers aren't really looking for it, don't need it.  The fact that the firm nomination is only on the first window, there is really no use to having information you can't make use of in the second, third and fourth windows and it is not a practice within DTE today.

MR. THOMPSON:  I must be missing something.

If there is 60 available and you are trying to sell it, why isn't it being reported?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  If it was a static number like 60, it would be easy to have that on the website saying, unsold capacity is 60.  But it won't be a static number.  That number will change every day, hopefully, unless we sell the pipeline out on a firm capacity.  But with the intent of selling as much as you can on firm and the rest as IT, it will change continuously.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I will move on.

Let's move to the next section, index of customers.

Does the index include -- well, for the purpose -- strike this.

For the purposes of STAR and these contracts, the precedent agreements that are for terms of five years or more, I think it is between five and ten if I heard Ms. Wong this morning -- three at five, one at seven, one at ten.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Does STAR require the names of those shippers to be posted?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  So right now the names of those customers is a big secret.  Is there any reason that the names can't be put on the record here now?  Or do we have to wait till June the 10th when this rule comes into effect?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think -- once the project is a "go" at that point it is probably less of an issue to be as confidential, but at this point it is still a pending project.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  What is the reason for that?  I understand it is a pending project, but what sensitivity do you have to disclosure now?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Our concern is originally back in 2008 there were three other projects that were competing with Dawn Gateway and we are concerned about our competitors getting that information.

MR. KAISER:  Is that the case now?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It would be –- Vector, for example, did open season just recently on the same path.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Finally, with respect to this particular section of the index of customers.  In article 4.2.4(vi), it requires the posting of negotiated rate, yes/no.  But I assume that there is no price.  There is no price involved there?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  In Dawn Gateway's case, it would be a "yes" on all five shippers, obviously.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Article 4.3, that is one of the articles that you are seeking an exemption from, are we correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then finally on the complaint mechanism dispute resolution, does this apply to transporters?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It would apply to Dawn Gateway, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Okay.  Your proposal -- could you just, in 25 words or less, tell us what you are proposing for the complaint mechanism and then the dispute resolution mechanism.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The tariff has -- let me back up.

The NEB group 2 pipelines are required to have a clause in their general terms and conditions that talk about the complaint ability, customers, shippers are allowed to do a complaint.  That clause is in our general terms and conditions.

In addition to that, our proposal is to have the dispute mechanism complaint mechanism outlined on our web.  So customers would be able to see what the more fuller process would be.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Can you just take us to where we find the complaint mechanism, dispute resolution mechanism in your tariff, as you say.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I believe it is section 21 of the GT&Cs.  The last paragraph.  That is basically word-for-word what the NEB requires to begin the tariff of a group 2 customer.

MR. THOMPSON:  So that is on --

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Page 14.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- page 14 of the black line.  It is the last paragraph, is it?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, it is.  So I think what would be on the web would be a combination of what is in there, as well as what is required by article (v) of STAR.

MR. THOMPSON:  Let me just understand that.

All right.  So when you say article (v) of STAR, 5.1.2 talks about designating employees for the purposes of dealing with disputes.  Is that somewhere spelled out?  Is that in the Code of Conduct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.  That would be on the web.  The actual name of the person and the whole process would be documented on the web.

MR. BAKER:  It is also in the Code of Conduct, though, under the complaint mechanism section.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.

I am finished that topic, Mr. Chairman.  Would this be a convenient time to take our morning break?  Or do you want to move on?

MR. KAISER:  Yes.  We will come back in 20 minutes.

MS. WONG:   Mr. Chairman, as always, are the witnesses allowed to talk to one another about the evidence?

MR. KAISER:  Yes.

MS. WONG:  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 10:50 a.m.

--- Upon resuming at 11:20 a.m.

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.

Mr. Thompson.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I wanted to turn, panel, now to the NEB group 2 equivalency feature of the regulatory framework you are proposing.  And to start this, I would ask you to turn  up -- it is the NEB guideline for group 2 pipelines, which you will find in section 4 at schedule 2.

I want to direct your attention to page 2.  Are these questions for you, Mr. Isherwood?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It depends.

MR. THOMPSON:  It depends, okay.  The reason I ask is that you are shown as the witness responsible for interrogatories to ask about these.  Anyway, I will ask the questions and whoever can answer them, please do.

Just in terms of the information that Union is relying on with respect to NEB group 2 regulation, is that based on the experience and investigation that the witnesses have conducted, or is somebody advising you on what NEB group 2 regulation is all about?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is probably a bit of both.

MR. THOMPSON:  In terms of the advisor, who is it?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We have relied on Laurie Smith, to a certain extent, and Sharon -- Ms. Wong to a certain extent.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thanks.

Let me start with this group 2 requirements, at the bottom of page 2 of this schedule 2, section 4.  This is talking about accounting requirements and financial reporting.

Do you see that?  And it says here:
"The Board only requires that Group 2 companies maintain separate books of account in Canada in a manner consistent with generally accepted accounting principles and file audited financial statements within 120 days after the end of each fiscal year.  Such statements should provide details of revenue and costs associated with the regulated pipeline."

Do you see that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I do.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, my understanding is that in this case you have now indicated that Dawn Gateway will be filing audited financial statements annually and they will be publicly available?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And is that being done to comply with this aspect of group 2 regulation?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, it is.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So I just, then, want to move from that to try to get an understanding of what those financial -- assuming that you get the approvals that you are satisfied with, then my understanding is the first year of -- this pipeline will go into service about November of this year?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's our intent.

MR. THOMPSON:  So that the first full year of operation would be 2011?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So at the end of 2011, within 120 days you would be filing a financial statement dealing with Dawn Gateway, DGLP; is that right?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Dawn Gateway Limited Partnership, that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So I just want to try and understand -- make sure we understand what this is likely to show.

Are we correct the only business that Dawn Gateway Limited Partnership have will be this pipeline?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  So will the capital costs reflected in those financial statements include the 5 million NBV of the St. Clair line?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the additional 2.5 million of the management fee?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It would be the entire capital cost of the project, so that would be included, as well.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Well, I am just trying to get a handle on that.  So it would include that 2.5, and it would include the $700,000 success fee, assuming Union earned it?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Only if we are successful, that's correct.  Only if we are successful.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But it would be in there for -- would it be in there for 2010, or not?

MR. BAKER:  It would be whatever we incurred.  Whatever we incurred, it would be part of the capital cost.

MR. THOMPSON:  Let's assume it is in there.  Then am I correct the only other capital cost would be the cost of constructing the new segment?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So we know the first three numbers of 5 million, 2.5 and $700,000.

We don't know the -- well, we do know the other number, but it is confidential.  What I would like to do, just to move this forward, is assume that last item, the construction cost number, for the purposes of illustrating what I want to discuss next.

I would like to assume it at $26.8 million, and the reason is that brings the total up to, I think it is -- well, $35 million.  Would you take that subject to check?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The total capital cost of $35 million is your assumption?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, in terms of, then, the other costs that Dawn Gateway will incur, there will be the St. Clair toll; correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And that's going to be at, I think you indicated, $342,000 or perhaps lower?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think in the one interrogatory we answered - I think it was CME 5 - we had a combined estimate for the MichCon lease and the river crossing toll to be $600,000 Canadian, estimated.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But to break those up, I had assumed the St. Clair toll would be about 342, and then the MichCon would be 258 to bring it up to the $600,000.

Whatever the split, you are estimating $600,000 based on CME 5?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  The other items would be operating and maintenance expense and property taxes; am I correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And in CME 5, you estimated those for Dawn Gateway at -- I believe the number is 1.3 million?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Just to do a reality check on that number, you will recall a discussion we had earlier about Exhibit J1.1 and the 0411 case where I suggested, subject to check, that the total for the 11.7-kilometre St. Clair line, total for operating and maintenance expenses and property taxes, was something slightly less than $150,000.

Do you recall that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I do.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And when we are talking about the property taxes and operating and maintenance expenses of the Dawn Gateway line, am I correct that the operating expenses for St. Clair and Belle River -- let's take St. Clair first.  Is it included in the 342?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, it would be.

MR. THOMPSON:  And for Belle River, are they included in the $600,000, the total of 600 for St. Clair and Belle River?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I am not as close to that one, to be honest.  I would think they would be, but I'm not positive.

MR. THOMPSON:  Subject to check, would you accept that and let me know if I've got that wrong?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  So what we are talking about, if you take out those two pieces, we are talking about the 11.7-kilometre St. Clair line and the additional -- I think it is 17 kilometres for the other segment; is that right?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So if I put 17 over 11.7, it produces a factor of about 1.4 something.  If I multiply that by $150,000, I don't get $1.3 million.

So what am I missing?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  $1.3 million is a number that is actually in the Dawn Gateway budget for operating costs.  So when the partnership is looking at taking this project forward, 1.3 million is what is in the budget.  So that is the number that we had to use in this question.  To be honest, I haven't gone back and compared it to the MichCon line or St. Clair line.  It is kind of a bottom-up budget and that is what it is.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But I am trying to find out:  What's in there?  If I do the math based on the numbers that you provided on the record for the St. Clair line totalling 150,000, the 1.3 seems excessive.  I mean there may be a whole lot of --

MR. BAKER:  I think there is other things that are in there obviously besides property taxes.  So we've got the field services agreement, the marketing agreement, gas control.  So basically all of the other service agreements that Dawn Gateway will require.

MR. THOMPSON:  But why are they a factor of --

MR. BAKER:  The factor that you are looking at is strictly primarily property taxes.

MR. THOMPSON:  I was looking at the total.  The property taxes for the St. Clair line were 95,000, based on Exhibit J1.1.

You forecast 1.3 million for property taxes and O&M expenses.  The O&M expenses were less than 50,000 per year for the St. Clair --

MR. BAKER:  There is more expenses on Dawn Gateway than will be there for St. Clair pipelines on a stand-alone basis, because we have the other agreements for Dawn Gateway like the marketing agreement that DTE will do.  The field services agreement that DTE will provide on the US side, Union will provide on the Canadian side.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So those agreements are not necessarily cost of service agreements.

What I am suggesting is, DTE and Union can take profit from those -- this deal through those agreements.

MR. BAKER:  No, I wouldn't agree with that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, they're not cost-based agreements or are they cost-based agreements?

MR. BAKER:  They're agreements that, again, under the framework of the Dawn Gateway Partnership, again it goes back to the point that we were talking about earlier, in that, you know, neither Dawn Gateway -- neither DTE nor Spectra are going to allow the other party to charge fees that they don't think are reasonable into the partnership.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, if they're both taking out the same amount of profit through these two services agreements, one with DTE and one with Union, it can go the other way.  They could have them -- they could have them pretty fat, could they not?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the one agreement that is actually on the record is a field services agreement on the Canadian side.  That is the first agreement we have actually signed and executed with Dawn Gateway.

And it is, it was I forget the exact exhibit number, but Exhibit K1.7 and that has an annual cost to Dawn Gateway of $81,000 a year escalating by 3 percent a year.

81,000 is a cost Union Gas incurs to provide the field services on the Canadian portion of the Dawn Gateway Pipeline.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, okay.  Well, that sounds pretty close to what St. Clair was incurring, grossed-up by a factor of 1.4.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I can't go back to what St. Clair is paying and grossing up.  I can go back to what it costs Union Gas to provide the service to Dawn Gateway.  And that was estimated by looking at the costs, the cost along the St. Clair line, plus the cost to maintain the new pipeline.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I will move on.

In terms of the other items in the financial statements that we will see, there will be revenues, right?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And in these confidential contracts that were provided in the last case -- I don't know that they were marked as an exhibit in the last case, so would it be appropriate to mark them as a confidential exhibit in this case, Ms. Wong?

MS. WONG:  Are you talking about the precedent agreements?

MR. THOMPSON:  These are the precedent agreements that were provided in response to the Board's direction and they're enclosed in a letter to the Board of October 20, 2009 and they were sent to people that had executed the confidentiality undertaking.

MS. WONG:  It is probably easier to keep track of them if we do make them separate exhibits.  On the understanding that once again they will be confidential and only provided to people who sign the confidentiality undertaking.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right, okay.  That's fair ball.  So this must have an X number, I guess, does it.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes.  It will be X1.1.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  X1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. X1.1:  CONFIDENTIAL CONTRACTS

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Do you happen to have copies of those available with you, Mr. Isherwood?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I don't think so.

MS. WONG:  I don't either, Mr. Thompson.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let me try this without them.

I don't want to get into the numbers, but would it be fair to -- would you take, subject to check, that in each of the contracts there is a monthly, what I call demand charge.  I think you call it a reservation charge in a specific amount.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  That is in all five of the contracts.

So am I correct that in deriving the revenues, the annual revenues that these contracts will produce, it is appropriate to add up each of these monthly amounts, get a total, and multiply it by 12?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And those are the numbers that are going to show up in the financial statements that will be publicly available in -- at the end of 2011.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  In addition to any other activity the pipeline may seek.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Would they be available -- sorry.  Assuming these things went into effect November 1, then there would be two months of revenues for the 2010 year.  Am I correct?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  That would show up?  All right.

So once the full -- once the full year is available, someone can combine what's on the -- what's been filed as a result of, posted as a result of STAR with volumes and that kind of thing, with what's in the financial, publicly available financial statements and get, I would suggest, an average price per unit that's being charged.  Is that fair?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, potentially.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.

I will come back in a moment or a little bit later to the remainder of the calculation in your CME number, but then let's move back to the group 2 guideline that I drew your attention to a moment ago.

Having discussed what's going to be available in these financial statements, then go back up and look at the tolls and tariffs section of this guideline.

And the first paragraph in this reads:
"Pursuant to section 60(1) of the National Energy Board Act, (the Act), all companies may only charge tolls specified in a tariff that has been filed with the Board and is, in effect, or that have been approved by an order of the Board."

In terms of the tariff that you are proposing to file, am I correct, it consists of the general terms and conditions and the toll schedules which we find at section 3?

I appreciate the general terms and conditions have been updated, but the updated general terms and conditions and the toll schedules.  Is that the group of documents that we should call tariff?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  So the GT&Cs are the front document.

MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, I missed that, Mr. Isherwood.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The general terms and conditions are the first document.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Then there would be a firm transportation agreement that has been submitted.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, sorry, yes.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  There's the firm transportation service toll schedule that's been submitted, and the actual statement of tolls, firm transportation service.  Then there would be a mirror image on the interruptible side so, you have the interruptible transportation agreement itself --

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  -- followed by -- I forget the exact name -- the toll schedule interruptible transportation service, then the statement of tolls for interruptible transportation service, and then attached, as well, is the Dawn Gateway Pipeline system map which defines the receipt delivery points.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So that is the tariff that you are proposing to have this Board approve under the NEB equivalency proposition?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Turning to the statement of tolls that you mentioned, you've got the toll schedule, and then the statement of tolls.  For firm, we find that at section 4, schedule 3, page 26; am I correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  What you are asking for is a reservation rate of $30 US per decatherm per month?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And a usage rate, a maximum of one dollar US per decatherm per day and an authorized overrun charge in the same amount?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Are these -- the reservation rate we understand is like a demand charge?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the usage rate is like a commodity charge?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  So am I correct these are interchangeable, or can they be combined?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  They can be combined.

MR. THOMPSON:  So you can have a two-part rate or a one-part rate?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That is common in Union Gas tolls today.

MR. THOMPSON:  No, no, I understand.  I understand what you are proposing.

So in each, you are proposing a cap.  Conceptually, it is a cap toll?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, suppose the Board approves a cap that is not your cap.  What happens?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That would be part of the project decision to go or no-go.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, the cap in firm is as we have described it.  If we just go over to page 35, there is no demand charge feature of interruptible transportation, but your maximums here are $2.00 US per decatherm per day for interruptible and $2.00 US per decatherm per day for authorized overrun?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Am I right?

Let's then go back to our guidelines.

The second paragraph on page 2 reads:
"The detailed information to support a tariff filing required of Group 1 companies is specified in sections P.1 through P.5 in Guide P of the Board's Filing Manual."


Would you agree with me that's a cost of service filing requirement?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then it goes on:
"Group 2 companies are not normally required to provide the detailed information to support a tariff filing required of Group 1 companies.  The Board regulates the traffic, tolls and tariffs of Group 2 companies on a complaint basis. Group 2 companies are required to include in their tariffs the following explanatory note:
"The tolls of the Company are regulated by the National Energy Board on a complaint basis.  The Company is required to make copies of tariffs and supporting financial information readily available to interested persons.  Persons who cannot resolve traffic, toll and tariff issues with the Company may file a complaint with the Board. In the absence of a complaint, the Board does not normally undertake a detailed examination of the Company's tolls."
In that these financial statements are going to be publicly available, and the financial statements will show the average prices that are being charged to the five precedent shippers, will the company -- will Union be making copies of the financial information that goes into the financial statements available to prospective shippers before those statements are actually filed?

In other words, if a customer, a prospective customer, asks what are you charging on average the five precedent shippers, will you give them the information to answer that question?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I believe the reason for the 120 days after the end of the year is to allow for the auditing of the statements to occur, compilation of the data, then auditing of the statements.  So I wouldn't expect that to be available, but once it is available, by all means it is publicly available.

The more important information for our customer is not what the average person paid or bid one year, two years, three years ago.  It is more what the market conditions are the day I want to buy the service.

MR. THOMPSON:  I suggest to you that is not the information that the NEB is referring to in their group 2 regulation.  The NEB is referring to cost of service type regulation -- cost of service type information.

MR. BAKER:  The way I read this is, to the extent a customer came, we would file the most recent audited financial statements that we had available at that time and provide that.  They would be posted on our website, anyway, and would be available to that party.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But if the customer asked what's the average price you are charging, would you answer that question or just simply give them the statements?

MR. BAKER:  I think we would give them the statements.

MR. THOMPSON:  The group 2 guideline goes on:
"It is the responsibility of a Group 2 company to provide its shippers and interested parties with sufficient information to enable them to determine whether a complaint is warranted."

Does that not require you to answer the question of the type that I have suggested should be answered?

MR. BAKER:  I guess it depends on what the complaint is and the nature of the complaint, and we would have to deal with that situation as it arose.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, if a customer comes and says, I want a five-year deal and I want it on the same basis that you are giving these other five -- the other five-year deals that you have, will the information be made available to the customer requesting that information?

MR. BAKER:  It may be.  Again, it is back to my point.  It depends on the specific issue that a customer has that launches a complaint.

It is obviously in our best interest to do what we can to resolve that complaint so that it does not end up in front of this Board.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Do you have any experience as to how often the NEB has had to adjudicate on complaints under their group 2 regime?

MR. BAKER:  In general, I think it has been very, very rare that they have had to adjudicate complaints under group 2.

I don't know specifically whether they have ever -- whether they have had to, but I know in my experience I have not heard of -- I have not heard of any.

MR. KAISER:  I guess if they had made a decision, it would be on the public record?

MR. BAKER:  That's right.

MR. KAISER:  I presume.

MR. BAKER:  I presume the same thing.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Just before I move on to another topic, I would like -- the reason I have been pursuing this a little bit is, if you go to your response to CME Interrogatory No. 3, you will see that we asked in (g):

"Please describe the supporting financial information that Dawn Gateway proposes to provide prospective shippers to help them resolve traffic, toll and tariff issues."

We made reference to your article 21 and we made some specific -- we asked for whether some specific information would be provided including the audited financial statements, the amounts charged to other shippers, copies of the contracts.

The response was, in (g), you will comply with STAR and you refer us to a Board Staff interrogatory.  But then in (h) you say your intent as part of the supporting financial information that you will identify potential shipper -- identify the potential shipper any credit requirements applicable.

How is that providing him with financial information?

MR. BAKER:  Again, I think the difficulty of the question is that it can be -- it can incorporate any number of different situations so it could be a shipper approaching us saying, What do I need in order to be able to execute a contract with Dawn Gateway?  I think that is the way this question was answered, is that we would indicate what credit requirements the customer may need or may have to provide.

MR. THOMPSON:  But that is not information that supports the toll, does it, that you are proposing that the shipper pay?

MR. BAKER:  Well, you may have an issue that says, how can I -- how do I know if I qualify for service under your tariff?  In which case credit requirements would be relevant.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, what I am taking from this is, depending on the question asked, you may or may not provide financial information of the type that I have suggested.

MR. BAKER:  That's right.  Again, I would go back to my comment that we're obviously incented to deal with whatever issue an existing prospective shipper has.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, just in terms of -- back to the guidelines, just to close this off.  This is, again, page 2 of section -- schedule 2 of section 4.  The guideline does discuss what the Board may examine if somebody complains.

This is in the second-last paragraph under tolls and tariffs.  It says this:
"Upon receipt of a written complaint, an application under part iv of the Act or on its own initiative the Board may design to examine a toll and to make the toll interim pending completion of this examination.  In this circumstance, the Board may request additional information including some or all of the information required by group 1 companies as specified in sections P1 through P5 in guide P of the Board's filing manual."

My take on that is, if someone complains to this Board, under your proposal, this Board could set the toll under the arrangement on an interim basis and then it could conduct an examination of a cost of service type information, if it wished.

Is that part of your proposal?

MR. BAKER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.

All right.  Moving forward, then, to your cap and its appropriateness.  If we go to, I think it is your response to Board Staff 9, a number of people, just as an aside, asked you to list group 2 companies and your response to that was to provide coordinates for the NEB website where some of this information could be found.

But in your response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 9, you do include a chart of a sample of group 2 companies for comparative purposes.  Am I right there?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And Vector is one that is cited as being very similarly situated to Dawn Gateway.  Is that fair?

MR. BAKER:  That's fair.

MR. THOMPSON:  And we see Vector -- Dawn Gateway, if we go page 2 of 3 of this, the Vector distances is 24 kilometres and Dawn Gateway is 34 kilometres.  Are they essentially going from the same point to the same point?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the reason Dawn Gateway is longer, because it is sort of an L as opposed to a direct line.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Vector's a hypotenuse of the Dawn Gateway path.

MR. THOMPSON:  Excuse me.  In one of our interrogatories, we asked you to provide -- I will just quickly refer to that -- a copy of Vector's toll schedule.  That was interrogatory 3(e).  This was one of the areas where you just referred us to an NEB link.

Then we asked, in (f):
"Please confirm that Vector's toll methodology is based on a negotiated toll settlement with its shippers and calculates tolls on a postage stamp basis for all movements from the international boundary near Sarnia to the delivery point near dawn, a distance of approximately 24 kilometres."

In your response to that you say:
"Vector's toll methodology is based on a negotiated toll settlement with its shippers.  Vector's October 19, 2009 letter to the NEB regarding its revised toll calculation describes its 15 year FT service reservation charge tap as being derived from the allocation of Vector Canada's portion of the total miles of Vector's pipeline and applied to the combined US-Canadian negotiated rate."

What is Vector's cap?

MR. BAKER:  We don't have the exact number at our hand, in terms of what that current max rate for Vector is.

MR. THOMPSON:  Can you give us what you think it is and then undertake to provide the information that tells us what it is?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BAKER:  I think we would be more comfortable just taking an undertaking and providing the number.

MR. THOMPSON:  Can we have that, please.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be undertaking J1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO PROVIDE VECTOR’S CAP

MR. THOMPSON:  Could you attach this October 19th, 2009 letter to the undertaking response, please.

MS. WONG:  Mr. Thompson, we will give our -- reasonable efforts to find the letter and also to get that information.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.

MS. WONG:  This is Vector's information but we will try to find it for you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it is information, I think to which you are referring in the table in interrogatory number 9 at page 2 where, under negotiated tolls for Vector, there is a description of, I think, what we have just been discussing.  Is this right, Mr. Baker?

MR. BAKER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, I am told it is certainly well south of a dollar a day or $30 reservation charge a month.

Can you confirm that?

MR. BAKER:  I think you are right.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is it less than 10 cents per gigajoule per day?

MR. BAKER:  Vector's rate?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, the cap.

MR. BAKER:  Well, I think what this is saying is the cap that they negotiated is their full FT toll from Chicago to Dawn, and then they allocate the difference between Chicago to the border and the border to Dawn.  I am sure it is probably less than 10 cents.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, this schedule indicates that Vector has, under -- if I am reading it correctly, you have -- this is under "Initial Subscribed Capacity".  You have 78 percent of yours taken up and they have 83 percent.

Can I conclude from that that Vector has 17 percent spare capacity?

MR. BAKER:  I think if you look over to the left-hand side, in brackets, it is supporting the original facilities application.  So I believe this was at the time Vector was initially brought into being, not where it is today.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, where is it today?  Has it got more or less than 17 percent excess capacity?

MR. BAKER:  I believe it is 100 percent contracted.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thank you.

Would you agree that Vector's cap is of relevance to a determination of what Dawn Gateway's cap should be?

MR. BAKER:  Not necessarily.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, why not?  Why wouldn't it be of relevance?

MR. BAKER:  Because their pipeline system is -- it is a different system.  It's definitely a longer system when you look at the entire length.  Again, we take the view that in terms of Dawn Gateway, in seeking what we are seeking under group 2 type -- a group 2 type framework on our tariff, every application should be dealt with on its own.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Would you agree that the amounts that are being charged in these precedent agreements is of some relevance to a determination of the appropriate cap?

MR. BAKER:  No.

MR. THOMPSON:  Why not?

MR. BAKER:  Again, because Dawn Gateway is -- as we have talked about, is an at risk pipeline, and we have also talked about the fact that the value of capacity at any point in time on the market is going to be determined, not what is in our tariff, but what is deemed to be the market value of capacity between Michigan and Ontario.  That is what a prospective shipper will be willing to pay.

What we are seeking in terms of our tariff is the flexibility to deal with short-term situations that may arise in the market where the value of that capacity is significantly higher, and because we are at risk we want the ability to capitalize on that in the market, to the extent that the shipper is willing to pay that price.

MR. THOMPSON:  We will come back to your notion of "at risk" in a moment.

In terms of the interruptible tolls for Vector, I checked the Vector decision.  This goes back to March 1999.  And the section of that decision dealing with interruptible tolls, if you will just take this from me subject to check, this is in the reasons for decision, Vector Pipeline Limited Partnership.  It is National Energy Board decision GH-5-98, and it is in March 1999.

At page -- sorry, in paragraph 252 it talks about the negotiated agreement providing for:

"...interruptible transportation service for which the maximum toll would be up to the 100 percent load factor derivative of the toll for firm transportation service."


First of all, stopping there, do you understand that to be the rationale for the pricing of Vector's interruptible tolls currently?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I am not that close to it, to be honest.  I would have to see if it has changed since that was published.

MR. THOMPSON:  Can you help us, Mr. Baker?

MR. BAKER:  No, I haven't looked at it for a while, either.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, does your toll proposal for interruptible meet this criterion?

MR. BAKER:  No.  I think this would -- our interruptible toll would effectively be double the proposed FT toll.

MR. THOMPSON:  Why is that appropriate?

MR. BAKER:  Again, for the same reason that I talked about, where the market is going to determine the value of the capacity and we want the flexibility in our tariff to be able to -- to be able to meet market conditions, to the extent that they arise.

Now, I would say that the same thing exists on Union's C1 rate schedule.  We have a maximum daily rate -- subject to check, I think it is $75 on a day, and it is there for the same reason.  Not that we expect to be selling capacity at that rate every day, obviously, but to the extent that there is a condition in the marketplace where that is the value that the market is putting on it, we want a tariff that allows us the flexibility to offer the service at that market value.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Then let's move from that to your answer to CME interrogatory 5(f).  This was one that you didn't answer in the first go-around, and then we wrote you a letter and quoted verbatim the evidence Mr. Isherwood gave in 0411 when he was being asked by Mr. Kaiser some questions.  I don't have the letter with me, but did you see that, Mr. Isherwood --

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I did.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- the letter?

And if you go -- then with that, you folks then provided a response to CME Interrogatory No. 5 by letter of February 24th, 2010.  I hope everyone has that?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And the evidence that you gave -- and I am paraphrasing it, and we see it in the response, where the transcript in 0411 is cited.

The evidence you gave, discussing this with Mr. Kaiser, was that the price differential between Michigan and Dawn in the winter is traditionally between -- has been between 10 to 15 cents; correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And my recollection is that you also said the shipper would look at that, and then shop around and see where he can get transportation for less than that spread?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, you then attach to this interrogatory response -- well, just before I leave it, you say at the bottom:
"Although the price differential has been about 15 cents for much of the time over the past -- last eight years..."

Does that mean between 10 and 15, or are you now saying something different?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the 10 to 15 cents is what I would call a nominal average.  That's what people -- assuming the market, what the Dawn to Michigan spread or differential was, people would always say 10 to 15 cents.

That doesn't say that on any given day it may get above or below that, and I think the difference here we're looking at is -- and this is confirmed I think in the precedent agreements that we filed in confidence.  Those precedent agreements would support sort of that range.  People are not going to pay the full differential.  They are going to pay something less than that, so they can also profit from moving gas between the two points, as well.

On any given day, you can certainly see things happen, or any given week, where the price may, for operating reasons or for whatever reasons happening in the marketplace, the price will actually -- it is called a blowout in the market.  So you are expecting it to be 10 to 15 cents and, for a day, it might hit a dollar or two dollars or higher.

So the chart we submitted in the refreshed answer kind of shows a history of what the basis has been.  But if you are going to contract long term, you are not going to contract to try and pay a dollar for seven years or ten years.  You would be thinking in the terms of 10 to 15 cents supported by whatever market information you have.  But if there is fair capacity available today and there is a blowout in the market, then there is a potential opportunity to get some of that opportunity.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.

When we're talking 10 to 15 cents in that last case, I took it per gigajoule.  Is that what you were --

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Canadian dollars per gJ and US dollars for decatherm are pretty close.

MR. THOMPSON:  So if we translate the upper end of this 15 cents to a monthly charge of the type you have in the toll schedule at $30, am I correct that it would be about $4.50 instead of the $30.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the $30 in the tariff is actually -- if you made it into a daily charge, it would be close to a dollar -- obviously 30 days in a month, it would be close to a dollar.  That supports, that supports usage rate being a dollar and it indicates why the IT rate is sort of twice that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Well that's the math I am doing.

So 15 cents for 30 days would be $4.50 per month.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  And again, somebody may pay 15 cents if they're doing a five-year deal or a seven-year deal.  But if they're doing a one-day deal to capture an opportunity in a market they may be prepared to pay a dollar on a firm basis or two dollars on an IT basis.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I am just trying to get the math right.

But if the Board felt that a firm cap of $4.50 was appropriate, based on the 10 to 15 cents traditional range that you are still adhering to, as I understand you, the cap would be $4.50.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Probably, yeah.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That would be the math.  Thirty times 15 cents.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the usage fee would be 15 cents.  Not a dollar.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Right.

MR. THOMPSON:  And even if it went for the interruptible doubling, it would be 30 cents, not two dollars.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  On your math, that's right.

MR. THOMPSON:  On that math, okay.

And those numbers, I think you have already agreed with this when you talked about the precedent agreements, but those numbers, those lower numbers would not threaten the long-term contracts.

MR. BAKER:  They wouldn't threaten the long-term contracts but they would certainly change the way we are looking at Dawn Gateway and the risks that we are looking to manage within that partnership.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, you sold out 78 percent for at least five years.  And is it not better to sell the whole package long-term?  Or are you keeping a little piece on hand to do short-term deals?

MR. BAKER:  No.  We clearly want to eventually get the pipe fully contracted.

MR. THOMPSON:  Long-term is better?

MR. BAKER:  That's right.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  But if it's not then you need to take advantage of the market when the market presents itself.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Just help me with the, this thing you have attached at page 2, in the context of the 15 cents, the 10 to 15 cents.

This is US MMBTU per day, and how do I get the 10 to 15 cents by looking at that line?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The 10 to 15 cents is that blur in the middle.  It is that thick blue line going through the middle.  What it is supposed to be indicating is that even though there is a thick blue line down the middle which is the 10 to 15 cents, there are definitely periods where it goes above that.  In one case in probably January of 2002, it went as high as eight dollars.  Going across that line there is a few other spots where it crosses two dollars.  So that is where we get the two dollars for the IT.

Again, not being able to capture eight dollars on that day but being able to capture two dollars on that day.  So the counter-party, the marketer or whoever is bringing gas across that day, would capture the remaining six dollars of value.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But there is no magic then in the units.  15 cents per gJ, and 15 cents per decatherm, and US MMBTU, are the --

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Decatherm and MMBTU are the same.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So this chart is confirming to you the 15 cents?  I just have a photostat of it.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, what it confirms to me is 15 cents is the normal number, but there are instances where it goes above that.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.

Okay, now, I just want to come back to some numerical calculations that we were discussing previously about the financial statements and what they are going to show.

And the numbers that you have included in your response to CME, I think it is 5 -- 5 subparagraph (e).  What we were trying to do here is ascertain the level of returns that might be potentially available here to the owners of Dawn Gateway, because our understanding of regulation is that a regulated transporter should not be permitted to earn super-normal returns or unusually high returns.

Does Dawn Gateway accept that concept?

MR. BAKER:  Depending on what definition you are putting on “super normal.”

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.

MR. BAKER:  We are expecting to earn a return commensurate with the risk we are taking on on the pipeline.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And in the initial go-around of this, the evidence was that Dawn Gateway wasn't interested in a cost of service approach, because that wouldn't provide the returns that it needed to take on the risks associated with this project.

MR. BAKER:  I think it was a little more than that from the perspective that -- what we had talked about was the fact when we went out into the market, the shippers or the parties that were interested indicated to us that they were not interested in a toll that had the potential to fluctuate annually.  They wanted a fixed-rate toll.

So our ability to offer that kind of a service to a shipper was not consistent with cost of service regulation.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  I accept that.  That was certainly part of the deal, but what I took from the evidence in the first go-around was that a utility return would be inadequate.  Was I correct?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  Because we had the risk under the way we were setting up the pipeline, we were at risk for unutilized capacity or uncontracted capacity, which is different from a cost of service regulated framework.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  So I took it that you needed something greater than the utility return to make this project appeal to Dawn Gateway.

MR. BAKER:  To be able to capture the risks that we had to manage, that's right.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So when we asked for what's the return implicit here, I think you are telling us, at least what I took from your answer to our No. 5(e), that you are saying this has an internal rate-of-return less than zero and a negative return on equity.  Is that right?  Is that what you are telling me?

MR. BAKER:  Based on what we currently have today with the contracts that we have in place, that's right.

MR. THOMPSON:  I just want to test that, based on what we were talking about earlier.

So the financial -- we can get the revenues from -- confidentially from doing the math on these contracts.  Right?

MR. BAKER:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then in terms of the costs, then, that we are trying to measure, we have the -- in my illustrative example, I used $35 million of costs using the three items we know about and the one that is confidential, just making an assumption.  Right?  Are you with me so far?

MR. BAKER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Then in terms of the -- so the return on that amount in a utility return calculation, based on the assumptions that we presented, would be assumed 40 percent equity, and we then apply 9.75 percent to -- multiplying 40 times my illustrative 35?  That would be the equity cost at a utility return level?

MR. BAKER:  I am following you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Then we take 60 percent of that number, and that would be the debt component, and apply 6 percent to that.  That would be the debt cost; is that correct?

MR. BAKER:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  There would be a tax add-on to the utility component.  Is 30 percent tax rate in the ballpark?

MR. BAKER:  I think it is roughly in the ballpark.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And we then have depreciation.  And in the Exhibit J1.1, the rate being used would appear to be about 5 percent.  Is that the rate that has been used in this calculation, in number 5?

MR. BAKER:  I am not sure.  That sounds about right.  I think it is reasonable.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, subject to check -- would you let me know if it is inappropriate to use 4 percent?

MR. BAKER:  Yes, we will.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Then we have the St. Clair charge, the Belle River costing charge totalling $600,000, and the property taxes and O&M, you say, at a million-three; is that right?

MR. BAKER:  That's right.

MR. THOMPSON:  Those are the total costs, as I make it, or am I missing something?

MR. BAKER:  No.  I think you've got it.

MR. THOMPSON:  So if I multiply those revenues by 12 and subtract those costs, do I get a negative number?

MR. BAKER:  Again, I think you are trying to do a calculation on an annual basis.  When we look at a project or a capital investment, we are looking at the return over the life of that asset.  So in this case, we do our economics over a 40-year life.

So, you know, while you may have a return of X in year 1 of a project, that doesn't mean that you are going to have that same return for the life of the -- for the 40-year life of the asset.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So just stopping -- the way I have done it is the way the Board would traditionally do these.

MR. BAKER:  On an annual basis, that's right.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Would you agree with me, when you do it that way, the return is certainly not negative?

MR. BAKER:  I would agree with you, and we obviously wouldn't expect it to be.  If a project has a negative return in year 1, we wouldn't be here talking about it.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But what gives it, then, the negative return in the calculation that you have done is you are taking it out 40 years and you're making some assumptions at the end of five, seven and ten about these existing contracts, are you?

MR. BAKER:  I don't think we are making any assumption.

We had understood the question to be:  Based on the contracts and the precedent agreements that we have, what's the return on the project?  So we have not made any assumptions post the determination of those contracts.

MR. THOMPSON:  So when you take it out 40 years, what does that answer mean?  That they're in effect not renewed?

MR. BAKER:  That's right.

MR. THOMPSON:  So the calculation that's producing a negative assumes three contracts for five years end at five years?

MR. BAKER:  That's right.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the one at seven years ends at seven years, and the one at ten years ends at ten years?

MR. BAKER:  That's right.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Could you redo the calculation, please, assuming that they all continue for 40 years, by way of undertaking?

MS. WONG:  Mr. Thompson, our concern here is that we really don't know what the relevance of all of this is.  The proposal is an at-risk pipeline where it is at negotiated rates.  That was the proposal that the Board looked at in the St. Clair application.  That was the proposal that the Board found had benefits to the system.

We could do all kinds of assumptions here that have no foundation.  At the moment, all that is firm are the five contracts with those dates.

MR. KAISER:  Doesn't it go to the reasonableness of the cap?

MR. BAKER:  I would say, on that, that the reasonableness of the cap, when we looked at the cap for the tariff, it was, you know, as Mr. Isherwood described.  It was trying to be able to have a tariff that was wide enough that would allow us to capture fluctuations in the market, not based on, you know, a traditional cost of service methodology in terms of what the upper limit of your toll would be.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I submit it is arguably relevant to the reasonableness of the cap.  Could you give us the undertaking so we can see the number, please?

MS. WONG:  No.  That is an objection.  We would put ourselves in the hands of the Board.  Our view is it is not relevant for the reasons I stated, that all we have at the moment are the five contracts that have been entered into, and speculation as to what might happen in the future is not relevant to an at-risk pipeline.

As far as the cap goes, the witness's answer is that it is meant to capture market opportunities as they arise.  It has nothing to do with the return on equity over the long term.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I submit it is reasonable to the -- where you set the limit on this cap, Mr. Chairman, whether it is two times the tradition, or one-and-a-half times the traditional level or something close to Vector.

I think -- I am in the Board's hands if it would be helpful.

MR. KAISER:  How is the cap set in the case of Vector by the NEB; do you know?

MR. BAKER:  My understanding is that the cap on Vector was actually done through a negotiated settlement with the shipper, so I am not sure whether the NEB formally adjudicated that, or not.

But, again, I would go back, if it is helpful for the Board, in Union's C1 rate schedule, which is our short-term interruptible transportation, we do have -- again, subject to check, I believe it is a $75 a gigajoule max rate on our C1 tariff, and it is there for the exact same reason.  Not that we are expecting that that is going to be the rate by which we are providing service every day, but to the extent that there is a situation in the market that happens, we've got the flexibility within the toll to meet that market need.

And in the case of Union, that goes, in terms of the revenue stream, as part of our regulated operations.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would just add to that, if I could, on the TransCanada Pipeline side, their interruptible toll starts at 120 percent of firm.  So it is not -- Vector sounds like it is a cap based on firm.  TransCanada actually starts -- the minimum price is 120 percent of their firm toll, and I don't believe there is a cap.  It just runs from there.  It is negotiated.

MR. KAISER:  You indicated -- this is going back to Mr. Thompson's interrogatory 1.  It sort of bears on this.  I was going to come to it, but before we rule on this cap issue, let me ask you.

Those were questions asking what you were going to do with Michigan Public Service Commission regarding the approvals to operate the Dawn Gateway Pipeline in Michigan, as well as approval of the tariff.

And to paraphrase, you said, Well we haven't filed anything yet, but we intend to apply for the same type of negotiated rates with a cap, as we are in Ontario, and we are hopeful that Michigan will grant us that.

How are you going to determine the cap in that filing, or do you know?

MR. BAKER:  I am not aware of exactly how we are planning to file that application with the Michigan Public Service Commission.

MR. KAISER:  So what's the purpose of the cap?  You would ordinarily think that the purpose of a cap was to protect the consumer, i.e., the price couldn't go above that amount, that there was some protection you get.

And in this interrogatory 5 of Mr. Thompson, you had this graph that bounced around, and, as Mr. Isherwood indicated in -- I forget if it was in January 2003 or January 2004 -- it went up to $8.00 or whatever it was.  It just went nuts in one day.

Does that extreme represent the cap you have chosen?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Does that, sorry, in the extreme?

MR. KAISER:  There is an extremely high differential in the graph that you attached to your ultimate answer to Interrogatory 5(f).

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Our firm cap is a dollar and our interruptible cap would be at two dollars.  So I think the dollar and two dollars would capture a lot of the opportunity along that line.  It wouldn't capture the extreme.  It looks like there is two or three days it wouldn't capture.

MR. KAISER:  Okay.

MR. BAKER:  I think to answer your question, Mr. Chairman, we didn't set it at the maximum that we have seen historically.

MR. KAISER:  So when you did set it at the rates you have just described, you were thinking of what, that this was a reasonable range?

MR. BAKER:  That's right.  Based on what we had seen historically.

MR. KAISER:   Of price variances that one might see over a long period of time?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, there is the outstanding item of the undertaking.

MR. KAISER:  We will rule on that after lunch, Mr. Thompson, is that satisfactory?

MR. THOMPSON:  That's fine.  I am just about done.  That's fine.  Let's leave it.

MR. KAISER:  Do you want to take a break now for lunch?  Do you have more?

MR. THOMPSON:  I thought that's what you were signalling but...

MR. KAISER:  I was.

MR. THOMPSON:  That's fine.

MR. KAISER:  We will come back in an hour.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:30 p.m.

--- Upon resuming at 1:37 p.m.

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.

Mr. Thompson?

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I think Ms. Wong had a preliminary matter dealing with this document.
Preliminary Matters:

MS. WONG:  And I was wondering, sir, if you had a ruling on the objection?

MR. KAISER:  Yes, I do.  We have decided, Mr. Thompson, not to order the production of that information at this time.

If there is an issue with respect to these caps, they can be raised by individual complainants on the basis of actual facts at the proper time as opposed to worrying about forecasting some proper cap at this point.

MS. WONG:  Thank you, sir.

Before the break, there had been an undertaking given regarding the Vector letter of October 16, 2009 --

MR. KAISER:  Yes.

MS. WONG:  -- and Vector rates.  I have provided to Ms. -- to Board Staff a copy of the letter and some toll schedules, and I was going to ask Mr. Isherwood just to make some brief comments on the material.  So perhaps we could mark that as the next exhibit.

MR. KAISER:  Yes, we will.  What number is this?

MS. WONG:  I think it is K1.13.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That's right.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.13:  LETTER DATED OCTOBER 16, 2009 FROM VECTOR.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The handout actually is three pieces.  It is a letter that Vector Pipelines sent to the National Energy Board on October 16th, and then what we also attached is Vector's -- off their website, their current interruptible toll from the Canadian border to Dawn, and also their US toll, as well, is I believe the third page.

When Vector first negotiated a settlement with their shippers, prior to the pipeline being built, they had an obligation to come back to the NEB annually with a revised calculation.  So the letter is simply stating, middle paragraph, that the Canadian rate of 0.5705 per gigajoule did not change.

That's really the basis for the letter.  And if you looked at the first toll schedule, being the interruptible toll schedule, you will see the same 0.5705 in the very first number on the right side under reservation charge for transportation service from the international boundary and Dawn Ontario.

What is equally important is the second page, which was not part of the letter being filed, but in order to understand the whole story, is the US toll.  And to go anywhere from the US to the Canadian border, you have to go on the zone 2 toll.  So the very first number, reservation charge, $9.3197 is a maximum toll that Vector can charge to go, in this case, from Belle River Mills to the international boundary, and as low as zero.

On top of that 9.3197, you would add the Canadian toll, and I will disregard units of measure in currency, but you would add on the 57 cents, basically, to the $9.31 to get a toll somewhere around $9.80 maximum per month, which, on a daily basis, would be in the 32, 33 cent range.  Probably 33 cents.

So it is really the combination of the two schedules to get a comparable maximum rate to what Dawn Gateway has proposed.

MR. KAISER:  Is this the current rate?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, it is.  And you will see down below on the Canadian side that for different terms there are some multipliers, as well.  So right above -- well, under the heading "Firm Transportation Service Tolls For A Term Less Than 10 Years", they can actually go to 300 percent of that rate for a negotiated toll that is less than ten years.

I don't believe that flexibility exists on the US side, but it does exist on the Canadian side.

MR. KAISER:  Is your cap in that ballpark, or do we know?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Our cap was a dollar for the month -- sorry, $30 for the month, a dollar for the day on firm, and $2.00 on the day for IT.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Do you have any questions on this, Mr. Thompson?  I think this is in response to an undertaking they gave you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Have you finished, Ms. Wong?

MS. WONG:  I have, Mr. Thompson.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson (continued):

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, great.  Thanks.

Just to nail it down, Mr. Isherwood, when we go to the toll schedule, statement of tolls -- this is page 1, I guess, of the attachment.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Fifteen-year term firm transportation, the Vector cap, if I understand you correctly, is 57 cents per gJs per month, and that compares to your $30 per month; is that right?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And the first column, FT1/FTH, what does that mean?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Vector has three different levels or types of firm service.  The most common is FT1.

MR. THOMPSON:  And what does FTL mean?  What does the "L" stand for?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'm not sure.  It's been a while since I looked at it.  There are different load balancing options, hourly flows, that type of thing.  FT1 is the comparable service to what Gateway is offering.

MR. THOMPSON:  In any event, they have a two-cap proposition for firm, and their cap is considerably lower than what you are proposing; is that right?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  I think what we're looking at is the entire path, and when we did that chart on CME No. 5 where we showed the basis between Michigan and Dawn being sort of the 10- to 15-cent range most of the time going up two dollars on a few occasions and up to eight dollars on one occasion, it is really the entire path.  You have to look from Belle River Mills to Dawn.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, you gave us the 10 to 15 cents in the prior proceeding.  I am not going to go there again, but just to understand now the 300 percent provision of the toll that you mentioned, if I read that correctly, then, the cap for terms less than ten years would go up to slightly less than $1.80 per month, is that right, three times the 57.05?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And that compares to your $30; is that right?

MR. BAKER:  Again, just, I want to make sure it is not lost.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Is your mic on?

MR. BAKER:  Oh, sorry.

I just want to make sure that the point is not lost that, again, when we are looking at a toll for Dawn Gateway to go from Michigan to Dawn, what you are looking at here on Vector is just the Canadian portion of the toll, so from the middle of the river to Dawn.

What we have been looking at is how -- a toll for Dawn Gateway that would capture the entire service from a point at Belle River Mills on the Michigan side all the way through to Dawn.  That's where I think we started, where we were saying you need to really piece together the US toll together with the Canadian toll, and that was the roughly $9.80 per decatherm per month that Mr. Isherwood had referenced.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But can a shipper get service from Vector from Belle River to Dawn, assuming it had capacity available?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. BAKER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Pardon?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. BAKER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So if that was the case, this -- or from the middle of St. Clair River to Dawn, this toll, this cap would apply; correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  $9.80 would apply.

MR. BAKER:  You couldn't get -- you have to have -- you're going to have to have some service on Vector to get to the middle of the river, and that is what I was trying to explain, is that you need -- you are going to need to contract for service on the US side to get to the middle of the river to get the Canadian Vector toll.

MR. THOMPSON:  Are there no interconnects with Vector near Belle River?

MR. BAKER:  There is, but the Canadian toll goes from the international border to Dawn, and there is no interconnect in the middle of the border.

MR. THOMPSON:  So you would have to get a little piece on the US side that would fall within the $9.81 upper limit?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  I understand.  All right.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Just on that point, when a shipper negotiated with Vector, they would be negotiating with the cap of 9.80.  Vector can charge up to 9.80 a month.  So even though it might be a small piece of pipe, the value of that pipe is really large, because the marketer or the LDC would be negotiating up to 9.80.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I understand that, but the -- on your theory it would be the difference between the commodity price at one point on Vector and another point two kilometres downstream.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The only two liquid markets are Michigan and Dawn.  There is no market in the middle of the river.

MR. THOMPSON:  Just turning then to the US piece.  The ceiling is $9 per month and that is for a pipeline that goes from Chicago to the middle of the St. Clair River, is that right?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is from any two points on their system, zone 2 to zone 2.  Zone 2 begins in Chicago and it ends at the international boundary.  But if I was to go to Vector today to negotiate a rate from Belle River Mills to Dawn, they would be able to charge up to the 9.80.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But even that number compares to your $30.  How long is it from Chicago to -- what's the distance from Chicago to the St. Clair River?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's not distance based.  It is -- as I mentioned earlier, it is it going to be based on the market value of Michigan to Dawn.

MR. THOMPSON:  Anyway, what is the distance?  Can you tell me, roughly?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I do know if I went to Vector today to ask for a rate during the winter of 2010, it would be higher than what you see in the precedent agreements.

MR. THOMPSON:  Finally, with respect to the interruptible, the maximum on page 1 of the attachment is, it is 36 cents per gigajoule compared to your $2.00.  Is that correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No, that number at the bottom of the page you're reading?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That is a whole different service, that is a park and loan.  That is like a storage service.

MR. THOMPSON:  I'm sorry.  I'm in the wrong -- so the interruptible is -- would be 300 percent, it would be $1.80 compared to your -- no.  Sorry.  What is it per day?  The $1.80 would be pennies per day, right?  $1.80 a month would be like six cents per day in a commodity charge?

MR. BAKER:  I think that is right.

MR. THOMPSON:  So the 300 percent, that would make it 18 cents a day compared to your two dollars, is that right?  Am I reading this interruptible transportation cap correctly?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is 300 percent of the 57 cents.  So I would take 57 cents multiplied by three, and you would be $1.71.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But that is a monthly charge.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Divide that by 30.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. BAKER:  Again, I come back that, you know, as we talked about before the break, we are not -- we didn't set the maximum rates in our tariff on this basis.

We set it to be able to respond to market conditions, not every conceivable market condition that we have seen on a historical basis, but some level of what we have seen on a historical basis, and that is why we have proposed the tariff that we have.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Let me move on and try to wrap this up in a few more minutes.

I just wanted to follow up on a point that Mr. Kaiser was speaking to you at the break, which was about price disclosure in Michigan.

He was referring to our Interrogatory No. 1.  I wanted to take you to Board Staff 18, if you wouldn't mind.

There, Staff, in its question, is referring to a notice of proposed rule making by FERC to revise its price disclosure requirements and Dawn Gateway acknowledges that it is aware of this notice of proposed rule-making.

In the Board's covering letter with the notice of issuance of the STAR rule, it -- on page 5, just take this subject to check, it notes as follows:
"The Board is aware that FERC has issued a notice of proposed rule-making to revise its price disclosure requirements to interested storage providers.  In order to increase market transparency, the Board sees merit in intra jurisdictional consistencies, especially in the relevant geographic market."

Do you know if that is the same rule that is being talked about in Board Staff 18?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We have no idea.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the footnote indicates in interrogatory 18, it is a rule of July 16, 2009 and that same footnote appears in the Board's letter, so would you take subject to check it is the same rule?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sure.

MR. BAKER:  Just, my only question, Mr. Thompson, is that when you read it, if I believe it right, you referred to "storage," not transport.  On the quote you just read from the Board's STAR proceeding.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, okay.  You are right.

MR. BAKER:  That's what made me question whether we were talking about the same thing, but...

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  My question is, do you know what it says, in terms of transport?  It doesn't say anything in terms of transport or do you know?

MR. BAKER:  I don't know.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Don't know.

MR. THOMPSON:  One other point I just wanted to come back to.  This goes to this -- the question of the effect of the Board's ruling on whether it is 4 million or 8 million or something in between.

Do you recall that discussion we were having?

MR. BAKER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And my first question is, are we right that the decision to proceed or not to proceed is Dawn Gateway's decision?

MR. BAKER:  The decision to proceed with the Dawn Gateway Pipeline is Dawn Gateway's decision.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so, and the two 50-50 players in Dawn Gateway are Spectra and DTE.

MR. BAKER:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Correct?  And am I correct that in their capacity as the 50-50 owners, managers of Dawn Gateway, they are obliged to act in Dawn Gateway's interests?

MR. BAKER:  Again, we are obliged to act in the interest of Dawn Gateway, but there are provisions within those agreements that reference satisfactory regulatory conditions for both partners in Dawn Gateway.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, the reason I raise this was because Dawn Gateway has -- forgive the pun, capped its exposure at 2.5 million to this issue that's outstanding before the Board, right?

MR. BAKER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  It doesn’t matter what that number is if it is greater than $2.5 million, Dawn Gateway and the economics of the Dawn Gateway proposition turn on the 2.5 million.

MR. BAKER:  Yes.  I would say that the economics from a Spectra perspective don't just turn on the economics of Dawn Gateway.  They turn on the economics of all of the decisions that are related to this project.

MR. THOMPSON:  But how can Spectra, as a 50 percent owner of Dawn Gateway, bring other considerations into play that don't affect DTE in exercising its obligations to Dawn Gateway?

MR. BAKER:  Because we are a 50 percent partner.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.

MS. WONG:  If I might also interject, Mr. Thompson.  They would also have an opportunity to decide whether or not to sell the St. Clair line; that's a Spectra decision.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I will just leave it there for a second.

Now, the last topic I just wanted to touch on, others have asked a number of questions about this in their interrogatories.  This is about preferences and subsidies.

Are we right that Dawn Gateway has no employees?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, I think you indicated that Dawn Gateway will be paying full freight for everything Union provides and DTE provides; is that right?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  We will have service agreements.

MR. THOMPSON:  So when Union is under IRM, if Dawn Gateway is paying too little or too much, does it really have any effect on Spectra where the subsidy sits, if you will, or doesn't sit?

MR. BAKER:  I am not sure I am following your question.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let's assume that -- let me ask you this.  How is the time of you folks sitting here recovered from Dawn Gateway?  Is it under the services agreement?

MR. BAKER:  As I said in my opening comments, and Mr. Tuckwell might want to comment, as well, but what we are doing is, on the same basis, consistent with the way we allocate costs between a regulated and unregulated storage business.  That is the mechanism by which we're allocating the costs associated with Dawn Gateway.

So those costs move over into the unregulated storage side of Union, and then we have contracts or service level agreements with Dawn Gateway to be able to recover those costs.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, let me leave it there.

Thank you very much, panel.  Those are my questions.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Who is next?  Mr. Mondrow?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, sir.  Good afternoon, panel.  I wanted to start, if I could, and just understand -- Mr. Thompson has covered much of what I would ask, so I will be briefer, hopefully, but I just want to start with what I will refer to as the corporate structure.

And perhaps the best way for you to help me with this is if you could turn up Board Staff Interrogatory Response 20.  There is a schedule attached to that which is the same as the prefiled ownership structure, but the arrows are a little clearer in the interrogatory response chart, as I recall.

If you could just let me know when you have that and are ready?  Ready?

Now, as I understand it, the triangle at the bottom centre of the page is the Dawn Gateway Pipeline Limited Partnership, and that's the entity that owns -- that will own the pipe to be transferred from Union, and that's the entity that holds the Belle River lease and is the beneficiary of the St. Clair agreement that you spoke to Mr. Thompson about earlier; is that correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.  That company would only hold the Canadian assets.  It is a limited partnership in Canada.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  So it would be the pipeline that we sell, combined with the new pipeline that we're building, and the contract with St. Clair Pipelines for the river crossing piece would be with the limited partnership, as well.

So this is the Canadian part of the company.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So that leaves the Belle River lease and that's owned by another entity, then?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Right down below, the Dawn Gateway Pipeline LLC, that is a US company.

MR. MONDROW:  I see.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That would hold all of the US assets or contracts.

MR. MONDROW:  I see, okay.

Where in this diagram, Mr. Baker, perhaps would Union Gas Limited fit?

MR. BAKER:  We are a subsidiary of Westcoast Energy.

MR. MONDROW:  A direct subsidiary?

MR. BAKER:  I believe there is now a limited partnership in between Westcoast and Union.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.

MR. BAKER:  But, in effect, held by Westcoast.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  That is Westcoast Energy Inc.?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Which is 100 percent owned by Spectra?

MR. BAKER:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, thank you.

And the gas control for the project, as I recall your evidence, is going to be provided by DTE.  Is that the DTE Pipeline Company that's going to provide gas control services?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would differentiate between the nomination part of the service and the gas control part of the service.  The nomination part of the service will be done through DTE Pipeline Company, and gas control I believe would be done through MichCon.

MR. MONDROW:  And can you just help me?  Where is MichCon in this structure, or is it?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Subject to check, I believe it is directly up into DTE Energy Corporation.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, great.  Thanks.

And there is evidence - for the record, it is Board Staff IR No. 6 - about what Union Gas Limited, if I am understanding the evidence correctly, refers to as kind of a Dawn-based storage service for which, as I understand it, there is storage somewhere in Michigan, and then the Dawn Gateway Pipeline to bring the gas from that storage to Dawn, and Union is characterizing that as effectively a Dawn-based storage service; is that correct?  Have I paraphrased that fairly accurately?

MR. BAKER:  We would contract for Michigan storage and transportation on Dawn Gateway to move it to Dawn, and then we would sell a Dawn-based storage service.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  By Dawn-based storage service, Mr. Baker, you're referring to the combination of the storage space in Michigan and the transportation of the gas from that storage to Dawn?

MR. BAKER:  I am just saying, once we get the gas -- once we get the gas to Dawn --

MR. MONDROW:  Right.

MR. BAKER:  -- we are using those assets to sell a Dawn-based storage product, just the same way as if it was physical storage at Dawn.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And is it -- is the storage that's part of that service provided by an entity that is embedded in this ownership structure chart that we were just looking at, or is it different storage?

MR. BAKER:  No.  It would be contracted from MichCon.

MR. MONDROW:  MichCon, okay.  And that Dawn-based storage service, if I understand the evidence, will be provided as part of Union Gas Limited's unregulated storage business?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And from a rate-making perspective, as I understand it, that means that the costs associated with providing that Dawn-based storage service, like the rest of the costs of your unregulated -- of Union's unregulated storage business, are eliminated from the utility company's financials on a fully allocated cost basis; is that right?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, thanks.

And could you turn with me to Staff IR No. 26, please?  This is an interrogatory that raises the issue of the applicability of the Board's Affiliate Relationships Code for gas utilities to the entities involved in this project that is being reviewed in this proceeding.

As I understand your response to this interrogatory, you are saying that the ARC, the Affiliate Relationships Code, is not relevant to dealings between Dawn Gateway Limited Partnership and either of Union Gas Limited or DTE, because, effectively, Dawn Gateway Limited Partnership doesn't have a controlling owner?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  But you do acknowledge in the interrogatory response a legitimate concern in respect of how the intent of the ARC is to be met in this transaction; is that fair?

MR. BAKER:  Are you specifically referring to...

MR. MONDROW:  If you look at page 2.

MR. BAKER:  I think that was what we had talked about this morning, which led to us developing a separate code of conduct for Dawn Gateway.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So let's just look at the wording, Mr. Baker, since you have asked about it.

It is on page 2, response part (c), after restating that the ARC should not be applied - and we have just talked about the reason for a minute - you go on to say:
"Dawn Gateway, however, acknowledges that Board..."

The Board:
"...will want to ensure that Dawn Gateway and Union are meeting the intent of the ARC."

Why do you think that would be a legitimate concern?  Can you explain that?

MR. BAKER:  Why it would be a legitimate concern?  Because pretty well every hearing we have ever been in, that ends up being an issue.  So our experience would say that this Board would want to be comfortable that we are acting appropriately in terms of the relationship between Dawn Gateway and Union or DTE.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  I am just going to explore that appropriate -- the appropriateness of that relationship in respect to two parameters.  One parameter will be resources of Union that might be engaged in the DGLP initiative, and the other is, as it relates to information, and the other is the transfer price.  I am just going to spend a few minutes doing that.  For that if you could flip one interrogatory further to Board Staff IR 27.

Board Staff asked you about the resources that the Dawn Gateway initiative -- the Union resources that the Dawn Gateway would use and you responded in respect to the services that will be contracted but you didn't answer in respect to resources.

Could you maybe provide a brief description of the Union Gas Limited resources people, processes, equipment that will be utilized in the course of providing services to Dawn Gateway.

MR. BAKER:  Again, I think what, you know, what we're doing right now, in terms of an allocation is we're allocating -- it's not like we've got, you know, a dedicated person that is spending 100 percent of their time on Dawn Gateway.  So as part of -- post the Board's NGEIR decision and now where we are operating right now as part of our annual budgeting process, we are looking at identifying what amounts of people's times or department's time are being spent on unregulated storage activity and we are allocating those costs to the unregulated storage operation.

MR. MONDROW:  On a fully allocated basis?

MR. BAKER:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Now when the ARC addresses the sharing of resources in particular, people, it, in part, I would suggest to you, aims at precluding the information access that sharing personnel sometimes results in, and it does that by limiting the extent to which you can share different sorts of personnel.

As I understand it -- as I understand your evidence you are saying that your proposed Code of Conduct which you filed and we marked as an exhibit this morning, should give the Board comfort in that area, in respect of precluding the inappropriate sharing of information.  Is that right?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Would you then accept, as a condition of approvals granted in this proceeding, that that Code of Conduct as filed be -- adherence with that Code of Conduct as filed be a condition to the approval that you are seeking?

MR. BAKER:  Yes.  We are prepared to abide by the Code.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  The other thing that the ARC addresses that is relevant to this discussion is transfer pricing, for example, the project services that Union will be providing to DGLP and the project.

As I understand the ARC, the services provided by a regulated entity to an affiliate are to be priced at the greater of fully allocated costs or market.

So my question for you is:  How is market price figured into the transfer pricing for these services?  Or is it?

MR. BAKER:  It's not.  We have abided by fully allocated cost.  That's the approach that we've taken and are using.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  If I can move on to STAR then, in respect to the regulatory framework, and you had quite a bit of discussion with Mr. Thompson about this, but I must confess that I still don't fully understand it.

So if I could paraphrase what I thought I heard this morning and what your interrogatory responses say.

MichCon has -- applies one nomination window.  And so you are proposing to, in your terms and conditions, to offer one nomination window.

And you say that because MichCon only applies one nomination window, you can't really update operationally available capacity during the course of what would have been otherwise a standard nomination cycle.  There is only one window and the operational capacity is set out that window and there is nothing to update.  Is that right?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the three remaining windows are sort of on a commercially reasonable efforts basis.  So it is not to say you can't change a nomination but it is not guaranteed.

MR. MONDROW:  Does MichCon offer that commercially reasonable basis nomination adjustment in its tariff?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  They don't tie it to NAESB windows.  Obviously their two o'clock window is already out of sync to NAESB, but I do believe they look at late nominations on account of a best efforts basis or on a case-by-case basis.

MR. MONDROW:  So during the course of a gas day, you will in fact have operational capacity changing from time to time and at some times, as I understand your evidence, there will be further nominations permitted on both sides of the border.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's possible.

MR. MONDROW:  So I still don't understand why you wouldn't update your posting in accord with STAR for those eventualities?  There is real information there that seems to me would be of value, don't you agree with that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think if we go back to some of the points I made this morning, the shippers that we're shipping on the pipeline are going to be large marketers and LDCs.  We're expecting as Union expects that you will set the nomination beginning of the day or beginning of the month and you will let it flow constant without changing it throughout the day.  There is really no reason to change it in this particular pipeline.

Not to say that you won't do it from time to time, but it would be an unusual circumstance.  And given that only the first nomination is actually a firm window, it doesn't provide a lot of value knowing that there might be a little bit of capacity available that there is no firm nomination to take advantage of it on.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, you are going to have more customers than you have now.  That is your aspiration.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Potentially, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  You are going to have nominations that can in fact change during the gas day?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Expectation, but not often.

MR. MONDROW:  But they could.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  They could.

MR. MONDROW:  You don't know who your other customers are going to be yet, right?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's true.

MR. MONDROW:  And the other thing that STAR provides for is posting available capacity based on what are -- what's referred to in STAR as operating conditions.  Will you not likely see some shift in the availability, at least of your interruptible capacity from day-to-day or week to week based on operating conditions on the pipeline?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I am not aware of that provision.  They might be there.  I don't recall.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  I think if you look at 4.3.1 of STAR, sub one, one of the things that STAR requires the transmitter to post on its website is the capacity available for transportation service under expected operating conditions.  Those will presumably change those expected operating conditions from day to day, week to week, month to month.  Won't they?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Capacity is definitely tied to the operating pressure.

MR. MONDROW:  And that will change?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yeah, for sure.

MR. MONDROW:  So on different days, different weeks, different months, there will be a difference in interruptible capacity on the pipeline.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Quite possible.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Moving on to another subtopic, still under regulatory framework which is what my client's focus is here.

As I understand your evidence from earlier today, there will be, under your proposal no price information, that is transportation price, even on an average basis, publicly available.  Is that right?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And as I --

MR. BAKER:  I am not sure that is entirely correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.

MR. BAKER:  The exchange that we had with Mr. Thompson indicated that when we file our annual financial statements combined with an index of customers and contracts, there will be an ability to calculate an average tariff.

MR. MONDROW:  Because there will be revenues and units and if you do the division, you will be able to come up with an average on an annual basis?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Then if that is the case, why would you object to posting an average price on your website?

MR. BAKER:  I think what we have said is that we're agreeable to comply with STAR and that's not a component of STAR.

MR. MONDROW:  Fair enough.  It seems to me that in addition to the cap, which you have been talking about which I think you are proposing should give the Board some comfort -- your basic proposition is that the Michigan-Ontario basis differential provides effective price discipline for your transportation services under this project.  Is that fair?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Fair.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And maybe you can just help me with that.  I just want to try to understand it.

If you can go to Staff IR 33 and first of all, I just want to look at response part (a) in which you cite as justification for the need and value of this project,  the -- this Board's finding in NGEIR there is a lack of uncontracted firm pipeline capacity.

I assume that that is still true, that there is right now a dearth relative to market demand, perhaps, of available firm transportation capacity between Michigan and Ontario.  Is that a fair assumption on my part?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the way we measure market, the market capacity or need for market capacity, is the fact that we have five shippers came forward wanting to sign long-term contracts, and we also had at the same time three other projects looking for new customers, as well.  And, more recently, Vector, one of the competitors, has come out with a second open season on the same path.

So whether all of the paths are fully contracted today, I don't know, but I think the market is looking for new paths and new ways of getting to Dawn.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So if you flip over to schedule 1 of this interrogatory response, I can see the proposed Dawn Gateway Pipeline, it is a very direct connection between Belle River Mills and Dawn.

Could you maybe just help me by describing, briefly, the other ways that gas can move -- with reference to this diagram, that gas can be moved from Michigan to Dawn?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  From Michigan to Dawn?

MR. MONDROW:  Yes.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The Bluewater Pipeline goes from Michigan to Dawn, not directly.  In the past here, we talked about a tie-in to Sarnia industrial line, but by displacement it can get to Dawn.  TransCanada and Great Lakes can bring gas from Michigan to Dawn.

The St. Clair pipeline, today, can bring gas to Dawn from Michigan, and the proposed Gateway actually is obviously the same path, but it would be a replacement of the St. Clair line.

There is also a line Enbridge has that ties into ANR on the US side, as well, so another way to get Michigan gas to Dawn.

And the other option we talked about at the last hearing, as well, was actually bringing gas in through Ojibway through various pipelines, Panhandles and MichCon and others.  You can go to Michigan to Ojibway and up to Dawn.

MR. MONDROW:  So other than your project, you mentioned Bluewater, TCPL, St. Clair, the Enbridge line and the Ojibway route.  Are they all fully contracted?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I don't know.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  But, in any event, apart from your evidence that there is a real market demand for this link that you are building, I take it it is also your evidence that there is sufficient competition in respect of the market encompassed by Michigan and Dawn to control your ability to -- apart from the cap, to control your ability to charge extremely high transportation prices, that that market discipline should provide the Board with some comfort?

MR. BAKER:  That's right, and the fact that shippers that are looking to ship and contract on Dawn Gateway will look at what the market value of that capacity is.

So -- and if they don't -- if they're not happy with the rate from Dawn Gateway, there are other options that they can look at.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, thanks.

Two more quick areas, if I could.  If you could open up the IGUA Interrogatory Response No. 5?

If I look at your response to part (d), in our question (d), we asked subject to your answer from the earlier parts of this interrogatory whether you would be -- Dawn Gateway would be prepared to drop -- excuse me, to adopt all of the other aspects of the NEB's group 2 regulation.

And your answer in part (d) was, no, that you are proposing similar regulation but you are not prepared to adopt that regulation.  You are going to rely on the OEB's regulation, which seems to me to be an eminently sensible answer, but I guess that leads me, as well, to conclude - and I will ask for your agreement on this - that to the extent the OEB thinks that any part of that group 2 framework, which you have been holding up as an example, is important to it, this Board should include as an express condition of approval adherence to that portion of the regime that they think is important; is that fair?

MR. BAKER:  I think that is fair.  I mean, to the extent that the Board looks at the NEB's group 2 and there is a specific component of that form of regulation that they want to adopt, that would be fair and appropriate, in my mind.

MR. MONDROW:  Really, you are not saying you are going to abide by that group 2 regulation.  You are saying you are going to abide this Board's regulation.  They can look to that as a precedent.  Whatever they feel is important they should include in their order, presumably?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  So, for example when you had your discussion with Mr. Thompson about the financial information necessary to evaluate a complaint, if this Board feels that it is important that you abide by that sort of provision, they should include that expressly in their decision in this case?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the reason we said "no" initially was, at the end of the question, they talked about "as the NEB may amend ... from time to time".

MR. MONDROW:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Once we get approval for the project under the OEB framework for a group 2 like -- then we want to be regulated by the OEB and not by both.

MR. MONDROW:  So the OEB could, for example, say, as a condition of approval, We're going to regulate you and expect you to adhere to the group 2 regulation framework as it currently stands at the NEB, and you would be comfortable with that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  Or it could choose to enumerate its own conditions, whether they mimic that regulatory framework or not?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  They always have that opportunity.

MR. MONDROW:  Of course.  Just one more thing to confirm.  You don't have to turn this up.  There were two interrogatories that dealt with your audited financials, and you described, Mr. Baker, at the outset of your evidence this morning, that Dawn Gateway is now proposing to file publicly its annual audited financial statements, file them with this Board.

I assume you would have no objection to this Board including that condition expressly as a condition of approval in this case?

MR. BAKER:  No.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, great.  Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.  That concludes my questions.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, panel.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Quinn, do you have anything?

MR. QUINN:  Yes, sir.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:

MR. QUINN:  Good afternoon, panel.  I am going to try to follow basically a similar path that Mr. Thompson did and cover some areas which didn't completely canvass my area of enquiry, and so I will leave it to the Chair to determine the appropriate break time, but I hope that we can conclude this in going over some detail, but that may or may not have been covered this morning from our perspective.

I am going to start with, this morning, in terms of the opening submission that Mr. Baker made.  He discussed the two-and-a-half-million-dollar term -- I think was management fee that Dawn Gateway is paying to Union Gas upfront as part of its commercial responsibility for taking over the St. Clair line.

Is that accurate?

MR. BAKER:  Yes.  I think it is part of the negotiated settlement, in terms of an assumed purchase of the project goes forward by Dawn Gateway of the St. Clair line.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Now, as has been acknowledged, there is a pending decision by this panel in the previous case as to what the level of compensation may be, but the terms that were thrown around this morning were between $4 and $8 million.  That is accurate from your perspective?

MR. BAKER:  That's what we talked about this morning, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  To the extent that the Board does decide in that range of $4 to $8 million, where does Union Gas propose the delta would come from?

MR. BAKER:  I am in the Board's hands in terms of whether we want to get into what may or may not be discussed in a future Union case.

MR. QUINN:  I guess my line of questioning, sir, they identified a management fee that has been provided to them upfront, which seemed to be a final settlement in their negotiation, but because that number doesn't reflect the number that was in the range of alternatives that were being considered by the panel in the previous proceeding, I was just wondering what Union Gas was offering as the handling of any delta between two-and-a-half million and what may be determined by the Panel in the 2008-0411 decision.

MR. KAISER:  So is your question -- he has already told you that anything above that is going to be borne by Union.  Is your question how is Union going to recover that in rates, or are they?

MR. QUINN:  What is their proposed handling?  Is it rates or shareholder?

MS. WONG:  And, sir, that was a point that was specifically addressed in the submissions on the under-recovery, and Union had submitted that that should be dealt with at its next deferral account case, on the basis that there be proper evidence and the parties could argue the entire thing at that point.

MR. KAISER:  So you haven't taken a position at this point?

MS. WONG:  Well --

MR. KAISER:  I realize you said that.  Mr. Quinn is asking if you could tell him now what your position will be then, and is the answer that you haven't made up your mind?

MS. WONG:  No.  The position -- I will let Mr. Kitchen answer it.

MR. KITCHEN:   The position we took in the sale proceeding would be that the under-recovery would be treated as part of earnings sharing which is consistent with the settlement agreement that we had coming out of the prior earnings sharing proceeding.

That's still our position.  But again a lot depends on what the Board's final decision is on that matter, and the amount and how much is in excess of two-and-a-half million.

MR. KAISER:  That was the question of whether the income for the purpose of calculating earnings sharing should be reduced?

Mr. Kitchen:   That's correct.

MR. KAISER:  And that is a matter that is still before the Board.

MR. QUINN:  I will accept that at this time, sir.

Okay.  I want to move forward then, and it has been canvassed by both Mr. Mondrow and Mr. Thompson in terms of the actual costs that will be allocated away from the Union Gas company, relying on the NGEIR decision of the 79-21 split.

I am understanding that Union's proposing that, no, there will not be a 79-21 split of some of the costs that we're talking about here, specifically the Dawn Gateway cost.

Could somebody on the panel give me a high-level description of how that process is undertaken by Union, to come up with a fully allocated cost, in this case, for the Dawn Gateway Pipeline.

MR. TUCKWELL:  Sure, I will take that one.

Basically we have started with the 2007 cost allocation study where the NGEIR decision suggested that that was an adequate way of separating the regulated from the unregulated costs.

From there, we have updated that based on 2008-2009 when we go through the budget process.  We review the underlying activities that are going on.  So the underlying activities for Dawn Gateway, to the extent that they're 100 percent related to Dawn Gateway, those costs would be -- excuse me, they would be 100 percent non-utility.

The other non-direct costs, in direct overheads, those would be allocated on the same basis as the 2007 cost study.

MR. QUINN:  Specifically the 79-21 allocation, then?

MR. TUCKWELL:  And then updated for any new storage that's been added.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.

Now, if we were to follow that train of thought, at what point would ratepayers have the opportunity for discovery on that process so that there is some insight into assumptions that are made in developing that fully allocated cost regime?

MR. TUCKWELL:  That would be at the next deferral disposition.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  I will defer further questions in that area to deferral account disposition time.

Another area that was discussed -- and it didn't necessarily flow with the issues list, but we started talking about -- excuse me, Dawn Gateway's desire to get started and a pipeline date that was originally February 26th that was moved to March 11th.  I think that was Mr. Isherwood that had said that you have talked to the pipe vendor and the date was moved to March 11th?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  I guess my question at this time is what would be the impact of March 18th?  Was there a negotiated penalty to the extent that March 11th was a non-penalty time that you could cancel the pipe, what would March 18th, what would that cost Union or Dawn Gateway in this scenario?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I am not aware of the specific contract elements, but typically once you place a form order, you have a firm commitment.  Sometimes contracts allow for cancelling that contract and some don't.  I am not sure -- I am not aware in this case which it is.  The other panel, Mr. Mallette would be able to address that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  If they would be briefed that we will be asking that question.  Obviously this is an important matter and to the extent that a week's difference would make sure that the public interests are served, we would be, I think, informed by what the penalty would be if you had that alternative.  Because as you clearly said this morning, it would clearly be your alternative to proceed or not proceed and I think we should know what the ramification of that decision may be sometime post March 11th.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Okay.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  I am going to turn now to the issue of the nomination windows and, again, Mr. Thompson and Mr. Mondrow covered it, but what I did not hear was the answer I thought I was going to.  So I am going to just preface this and make sure we have context and then ask my question.

Mr. Isherwood, you had indicated, in replying to Mr. Thompson, that the shippers really don't need or want to know the information on the operationally available transportation capacity, is that accurate?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would say the shippers review the tariff.  I would say that the changes that have been made most recently as they relate to STAR, the shippers wouldn't have necessarily seen those changes.  But the tariff before that they would have essentially have seen and had a chance to comment on.

In that discussion, there's been no request to have information beyond what we have already promised them in the tolls and tariffs posted or available.

MR. QUINN:  So what I am hearing is they didn't ask for it, but were they asked if they would want it?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.

MR. QUINN:  So they were not asked that they would want it?  Okay.

You have also stated that you would be trying to fill the pipe.  So you would be looking for other prospective shippers in a matter of time if you proceed with the project?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Do you have any evidence that they would not want to see that type of information?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Well, I have no idea who they are, so...

MR. QUINN:  Okay, so your answer would be --

MR. BAKER:  I think the thing to note here is to the extent shippers are interested in moving gas from Michigan to Dawn, they're going to call.  I mean, if they want capacity, they're going to call and express interest in it.

To the extent that there is capacity maybe even outside of the first nomination window that we talked about and we've got the ability to provide it on a commercially reasonable best efforts, we will.

I think one of the issues we are trying to do at Dawn Gateway as we are a new pipeline, we are nominating on the first nomination windows and you know if we get to the point where there is a need and a desire by the market to put in the other three nomination windows and everything that goes with that, we will consider it at the time.

But we are trying to keep things as lean as we can to get off the ground.

MR. QUINN:  So implicit in that statement is that, would you post the amount of available capacity at the -- after the 2:00 p.m. window has passed and you have taken those nominations, are you willing to post that number?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think what I mentioned this morning, it provides very little value to the shippers, given the fact the next three nomination windows are still interruptible in nature.

MR. QUINN:  But if I am trying to determine who I want to call to check out prices and then as we discussed there is a range of alternatives in a simple supply and demand if other providers are listing their operational capacity they may have available --

MR. ISHERWOOD:  To be clear, Vector does not post how much capacity they have available in Canada.

MR. QUINN:  And I guess what I am trying to understand is, what is inhibiting Union Gas from posting that 2:00 p.m. nomination window as a point of information for people to determine whether they want to make the call?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is not Union Gas that has that information, it is going to be DTE.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So what would be inhibiting Dawn Gateway from finding a metric, because they're going to be reliant on Union Gas to be able to flow that gas.  So Union Gas would have the information as to the operationally available capacity.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, I think the whole function around gas nominations and gas control would be DTE functions.  Either DTE Pipeline Company or MichCon.  So if anybody was going to do it would it would be one of those two parties.

MR. QUINN:  So I am still trying to understand what -- where would the limitation be, in terms of if we determined that they will not be able to meet all of the NAESB windows because of the history, they still do have an ability at 2:00 p.m. to know what was nominated, what would inhibit Dawn Gateway from providing that information to the market?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think we look at it two ways:  One, does the market want it or need it?  Secondly, can DTE do that today?  And clearly they can't.

To Mr. Baker's earlier point, the intent of this pipeline is to get it launched and be as skinny as possible on services.  We have two services, firm and interruptible.  No park and loan.  No fancy load balancing, no nothing.  Very simple.  Very lean.  In the kind of spirit of that, one nomination window, and unless the market requested it or required it, we have no plans to provide that operational capacity.  But to the extent that the market required it or wanted the extra three nomination windows, we look at it at that point in time.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I am not sure that there is going to be much benefit in pursuing what the market may need or want, and that is maybe somewhat speculative.  But would you agree with me that the STAR -- the STAR rule itself was to try to provide the market with the information that it needs to function as efficiently as possible?

MR. BAKER:  I think all we're saying to you is that the shippers that have expressed interest in this pipeline capacity - and, realistically, the shippers that are going to express interest going forward - are sophisticated shippers.  They're in the market.

And they will -- to the extent that they're looking for it, they will call.  It is not going to be an impediment in terms of the ability to provide service, which I think is the underlying philosophy and approach behind STAR.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  To give you a bit of an example, in today's environment where people are trying to change their nomination during the intra-day window, even having how much capacity is available, it is information that has some value in the STAR.

But to the extent that there's ten or 20 people trying to bid for Union Gas Dawn to Parkway service on the next window, no one knows what the other party is bidding.  And so they all bid essentially what they think they require, and we look at all of the nominations and we will allocate capacity according to price and other terms and conditions.

So even knowing how much capacity is there doesn't necessarily mean you get to it.  You put a nomination in assuming you can get part of it, but often, on a peak winter day, there will be custom-made across different nominations.

The same would happen on Gateway.  To the extent we posted 10,000 available, if people wanted that, they would nominate on their IT contract probably before they would even call us.  They would nominate and hope that their nomination doesn't get cut, and that is kind of the common practice today.

MR. QUINN:  To the extent that they nominate and they got it or didn't get it -- they got the pipeline capacity or they did not get it, does that provide them feedback in terms of the value of the service?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It would.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Do they know if that was their price or if it was available capacity?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Well, they got cut.  It would be based -- if it was IT, it would be based on price.

MR. QUINN:  How do they know it is not available capacity?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  If it got prorated, it would be because it was available capacity.  If they got part of it, it meant that their price was the last price to be cut.  If they got zero, it means their price didn't make the cut.

MR. QUINN:  And so how would they know that 100 percent was actually subscribed or nominated that day?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  You mean how do they know if the pipe got sold?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  You are always trying to maximize the system.  Even our code of conduct talks about that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  But you did say it was price, terms and conditions.  So how would they know it wasn't the price or some other term or condition that another party had provided that they did not?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think you then go into -- on Gateway, in the tariff it talks about which service takes priority, and obviously the only two services -- it is pretty simple.  Firm takes priority, and then IT based on price.  And that's in the toll schedule, in the tariff.

MR. QUINN:  But Mr. Baker, in just responding to this, had indicated he didn't think this information was available -- or necessary to be able to provide the service.  You are going to want to provide the service.

How does somebody know that they have been -- they have received non-discriminatory access?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Because our code of conduct promises that.

MR. BAKER:  That's right.

MR. QUINN:  What discovery would they have to be able to have sufficient information to lodge a complaint in the first place?

MR. BAKER:  I guess if they felt strongly enough about it, they would launch a complaint with us and we would deal with it with them.  We're the first line of complaint they would have before anything would to go the Board.

MR. QUINN:  I understand that, but what information would they have to know if there is any merit to their concern?

MR. BAKER:  If they lodged a complaint and they had a specific complaint to the hypothetical that you are putting there, then presumably we would show them the information that we had.

This is a hypothetical that is going well beyond the realm of what is going to be realistic.

MR. QUINN:  With all due respect, sir, that is what STAR was designed to enforce, and, from what is being designed by Dawn Gateway here, it does limit access to information, when -- information that could be available at what I would believe is a marginal cost, and you are saying people don't need that.

I would say the market would benefit.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Baker, let me ask you a question and see if I can clarify it.

If I bid and I didn't get anything, it must be that the line was full, because if you had capacity, you would sell it to me; right?

MR. BAKER:  That's right.

MR. KAISER:  There is no reason why you wouldn't sell it to me?

MR. BAKER:  That's right.

MR. KAISER:  There may be a case where I got prorated, which means I might have come in at the same price as somebody else, so we might have had to split the last block of capacity.

So the only complaint I would have there is that you hadn't prorated it properly, arguable, theoretically?

MR. BAKER:  That's right, yes.

MR. KAISER:  In which case if I felt that, for some reason, that you somehow wanted to give somebody else a preference and more than his fair share, I could raise a complaint, I would guess?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. KAISER:  What would you do if I raised a complaint in those circumstances?

MR. BAKER:  If you raised a complaint in those circumstances, I think we would show you the information in terms of what other parties nominated and how we did the proration.

MR. KAISER:  Right.  You would show me you, You got this much, Gordon, and that guy got that much and we prorated it equally, or whatever it was, because you had the same price?

MR. BAKER:  That's right.

MR. KAISER:  Is there any other case where there would be an allegation of unfairness?

MR. BAKER:  I think those are the two main --

MR. KAISER:  I mean, I either get nothing, which means you must have sold it out to somebody at a higher price, unless you were just mad at me, or I got some of it and I didn't get my fair share, in which case I would have a viable complaint and there would be a process that would determine whether I got my fair share?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. KAISER:  Does that help?

MR. QUINN:  That helps, sir.  We can't foresee all of the scenarios that may be --

MR. KAISER:  Well, is there another scenario?

MR. QUINN:  My concern, sir, is people use the history over time when they are considering different alternatives of where to go, to know what different pipelines had as available capacity, after it has been subscribed for, whatever day.  They can go back and measure that versus the margins that may be available and what they perceive the costs of that service to be.

So the history actually creates a tracking that allows you to value services in the market.  Without some of that history of what may have been available, people are missing that piece of information and where they may have it from other providers.  To the extent that limits Dawn Gateway's business, I guess it is a commercial decision they may make, but it does limit the information that is available to the marketplace.

MR. KAISER:  Just on that point, what exactly are the portions of STAR that you don't want to comply with?

MR. BAKER:  It was really around the posting of operationally available capacity on all of the nomination windows, because --

MR. KAISER:  Was that 4.3, or am I missing it?

MS. WONG:  They're listed, sir, in response to Staff Interrogatory 13(b).

MR. KAISER:  What are they?

MS. WONG:  So 4.1.1(ii), 4.14, 4.16, 4.31.

MR. KAISER:  Would I be right, Mr. Baker, that that aspect of STAR that you are going to comply with would give us reporting over and above what one would get in an NEB process?

MR. BAKER:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Chairman, since we are going to have to argue this tomorrow, could I ask one other scenario?

MR. KAISER:  Sure.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson (continued):

MR. THOMPSON:  Suppose you have an open season and it is not all taken up, so there is excess?  And under the STAR, as I understand it, when that happens, you can then engage in direct negotiations?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And you can engage in direct negotiations with yourself, with Union, for example; is that right?

MR. BAKER:  Well, again, but that's why we put the code in place so that we -- because we are clearly going to abide by the code where we are not going to do that.  We are trying to develop this pipeline to sell it to third parties so that we can -- so that we can mitigate our risk.

We are not looking to try to recontract it all our self.

MR. THOMPSON:  I accept that, but why can't you post the excess that is available as if it were or it is operationally available capacity, so others who may want it contact you for direct negotiations?

This is something apart from the open season process, and that's where I am --

MR. BAKER:  I think people will know if there is uncontracted capacity.

We have been upfront in terms of the capacity in the line.  We will have an index of contracts and customers that will show the amount of firm contracts that we have on the system.

So to the extent that there is a delta there between those two, the market will know that there is uncontracted capacity that is available.

MR. THOMPSON:  What's wrong with posting?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It will be posted, industry customers will be posted on the web.  So all the firm contracts will be posted.  The system capacity is also a part of STAR requirement as well.  So in terms of the total and what is contracted firm will be on the web.

MR. BAKER:  I think this issue is going to what operational capacity is there beyond, you know, beyond the first nomination window.

And because we aren't looking to, between the service we're going to get from MichCon we aren't looking to offer service on those other three windows, that's why we were asking for the exemption that we were.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, Mr. Baker, are you not offering the service or is it only being offered on a reason being efforts basis?   I’m confused.

MR. BAKER:  It is on a reasonable efforts basis.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So it is being offered?

MR. BAKER:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So Dawn Gateway will have to know what its operational capacity is, if it is going to respond to those requests.  So I am struggling with why, with why you are seeking that exemption.

Is it, you are taking the position that the information is of limited value.  I assume -- am I assuming correctly that I that you are balancing that because you are saying in order for DTE to be able to provide this information, it will be very costly?

MR. BAKER:  That's part of it.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think our other thought is on the other three nomination windows, the most likely thing to happen would be a firm customer that didn't nominate all of their gas initially on the first window, may want to decide to increase their nomination in the second, third or fourth window.  So it is less likely for an IT person to come in on the second, third or fourth window.  It is more likely if Union Gas nominated half of their volume on the first window, we decide on the second window or third window to go up to 100 percent, that is a more likely scenario or to go down.  If we're starting at 100, we may want to go down to 50 percent.  It was more around the firm contracts that it is more likely on the second third and fourth nomination window.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.

I think I understand many of your reasons and your reasoning around why you think it is not of value, but that doesn't really answer the question of why you would object to providing that.  I guess that is what I am trying to understand why do you object to providing it.  Is it simply because of the cost of putting the systems into place to be able to?  Or is there some other reason that you object to providing it?

MR. BAKER:  I think it is both a cost and what we perceive to be the value or the interest in it.

So to offer nominations on the four NAESB windows, you have to have people there.  You have to run a 24 by 7 shop so they're there to take the nominations.

And again, we are a small pipeline with five shippers.  If it gets to that point, then I think that is something that we would have to look at.  But right out of the gate, to staff up, to have people there 24-7 to take the nominations and to be looking to, again, the resources to update the information and put that out there on all of those four nomination cycles when we don't see the demand for it, I think that is what we were -- that's why we were seeking the exemption.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So the relationship you're saying is if we're required to provide this information, the natural consequences of that is that we are actually having to provide a different service.

MR. BAKER:  I think the expectation from the market would be is that you would have -- if you are going to post the available capacity, you're going to have people there to accept the nomination on all of those four windows, to be able to offer it.

Otherwise, if I was the shipper and I looked on a system and I saw that Dawn Gateway was posting available capacity on all of the nomination windows, and every time I called I couldn't get anybody on the phone to actually try to nominate IT, I would question, why are you doing it?

MS. CHAPLIN:  But presumably those restrictions or that limited availability of nominating on those windows could be -- also that information could also be posted.

MR. BAKER:  Yeah, I suppose you could do that.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is part of the tariff.

MR. KAISER:  Sorry?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is part of the tariff.  The fact the three windows are a reasonable effort basis is part of the tariff so it would already be posted.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.

MR. KAISER:  What does that mean?  Layman's terms, does that mean you are really not selling it or it is not something you focus on or what?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  On the three windows?

MR. KAISER:  The reasonable efforts basis, what does that mean?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It means, to Mr. Baker's point, that we don't have nominations people available 24-7.  So there basically during the week and on the weekends on an on-call basis.

MR. KAISER:  So really -- to Ms. Chaplin, it is not really a service you are offering.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is not expected to be used.  If people need it once in a while, we will do our best to make it happen, is how I would kind of characterize it.

MR. BAKER:  If there was some market condition out there where we think there is going to be some interest outside of the first nomination window, then I think as a pipeline company we are going to want to meet that need and we would, you know, we would have it available.  We just don't see it as something that is going to be required right now.

MR. MONDROW:  Sir, could I interject on this point in the spirit of Mr. Thompson's request.

MR. KAISER:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  There’s one thing about this I still don't understand, gentlemen.

I understood you to confirm for me that it’s DTE Pipeline Company that is going to do the nominations for you, you are going to contract with them, you being GL Great Lakes Pipeline, but they're going to do the nominations.  I would have thought that they're big enough to have this capacity if you asked for it.  Why would that not be the case?

You keep saying we won't have people.  But they're not going to be your people any way.  You don't have any people as I understand it.  Can you help me?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  DTE Pipelines Company is a fairly small undertaking.  I think people often think of DTE as being the size of MichCon.  DTE Pipeline Company is a fairly small group of folks that do some nominations today, but not on the MichCon system.  It is a separate group from MichCon.  So MichCon would be doing the gas control.  But DTE Pipeline Company, I think of them as being more the unregulated part of DTE.  It is a fairly small group.

MR. MONDROW:  And MichCon presumably can nominate on the four NAESB windows.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No, they cannot.

MR. MONDROW:  They can't do it either?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  MichCon has one nomination window, it is not even NAESB it is a two o'clock afternoon...

MR. MONDROW:  You did say that.  I am not sure that helps but thank you, sir.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, sir.

I wonder if we could maybe put a bow on this by saying:  Would you undertake to tell us what the cost would be of providing that service?  You have talked about this is, you don't see a market demand and there is an incremental cost with it.

Could you tell us, in round numbers, what the costs of creating that service either through your own resources or by contracting to MichCon or a third party for that service?

MR. BAKER:  I think -- I don't know how long it would take us to get that that information together.  I suppose we can undertake, on a best efforts basis, to try it.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be undertaking J1.2.

MR. QUINN:  Panel, I am just going to move to my last question which...


[Witness panel confers]

MR. QUINN:  I am going to move to my last question.  It touches a little bit on this recent issue we have been talking about, but it is the broader context.  If you could turn up Board Staff Interrogatory No. 24.

In responding to the interrogatory asking the question about:
"Please explain in detail the role of Dawn Gateway in managing the business of Dawn Gateway LP."

 The first sentence concludes with:
"Dawn Gateway exercising control over all activities of the partnership."

 But if what I heard previously, Dawn Gateway really doesn't have any employees.

Could you provide a little bit more detail, in terms of how this control is exercised.  What is the decision-making process and what would help us to understand, I guess, how that control would be exercised.

MR. BAKER:  Well, the Dawn Gateway GP has two representatives, one from DTE, one from Spectra, and they're the ones that exercise the control over the limited partnership.  So it is effectively a board or the owners, the management structure of the general partnership.

MR. QUINN:  It may be in evidence, but who are those two representatives?

MR. BAKER:  Myself and Mr. Peter Cianci.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  You are exercising control over the pipeline on day-to-day matters, or month by month, quarterly budget?  What level of --

MR. BAKER:  These are major decisions that need to be made as per the general partnership agreement.

MR. QUINN:  So if we just walk through this past issue about nomination and who is going to make decisions as to what Dawn Gateway may do with under-utilized capacity, who makes that decision?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The partnership -- actually, the partnership would be contracting with DTE Pipeline to do the nominations part of the work and with MichCon to do the gas control part of the work.

MR. QUINN:  So in a situation whereby you have under-utilized capacity, it will be clear to market participants they are to call DTE with that request?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  And I should mention, as well, that Dawn Gateway Pipeline is contracting with DTE, as well, to do the marketing.

MR. QUINN:  So to my question.  The market would understand that DTE is the contact point for under-utilized capacity?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  They would have complete knowledge, then, of what is available at the outset of the day.  If I get the 2:00 p.m. window, they would know how much is available?

MR. BAKER:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Would they need any feedback from MichCon?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Only from the point of view of potentially the pressure going into the pipeline, because the receipt point is basically MichCon Belle River Mills.

MR. QUINN:  So you would have the DTE adding up the five nominations, at this point, from -- if you did not add another shipper, they would add up five nominations from the respective shippers and they would be able to say what the under-utilized capacity is?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  At that moment.

MR. QUINN:  Yes, okay.

Thank you.  Those are my questions, sir.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Ross, anything?

MR. ROSS:  No questions, sir.

MR. KAISER:  Okay.  Do Board Staff have any questions?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I do have some questions, although I wonder if you want to take the afternoon break now or later.

MR. KAISER:  We can do that.  Twenty minutes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.

--- Recess taken at 3:00 p.m.


--- On resuming at 3:20 p.m.

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.

MS. WONG:  Ms. Cochrane, before you start, Mr. Chairman there is a preliminary matter.

MR. KAISER:  Yes.
Preliminary Matters:

MS. WONG:  Over the break, my client has been thinking about the question as to what can be posted.  I believe Mr. Baker would like to talk to that at the moment.

MR. KAISER:  Okay.  Mr. Baker.

MR. BAKER:  Yes, thanks.

I think none of us were real, were real happy with the exchange that took place just before break.  So what we have talked about and what we're prepared to do -- it is not like we're trying to withhold information from the market as Dawn Gateway, so on the first nomination window we would be prepared to post available capacity on the website and the way we would propose to do is to take our rated capacity, our name plate capacity of 360,000 decatherms a day, and we will deduct from that all of the capacity that has been nominated on that first nomination window, and we will post that on our website in terms of available capacity for the rest of the day.  Which then, as we've talked about, would be able to be nominated only on a reasonable best efforts basis.

MR. KAISER:  That's helpful.  Thank you.

MR. BAKER:  Thank you.

MS. WONG:  On the basis of that change in position, I was wondering if the applicant could be relieved of that undertaking to provide the costs of posting on all of the four nomination windows that Mr. Quinn had asked for.

MR. KAISER:  I would hope so.  Is that satisfactory?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.  And, sir if I may...

Because it will be a factual piece of information, would Dawn Gateway be willing to post what was actually used the previous day so the market would have that information?

MR. KAISER:  While they're conferring, what is the relevance of that?

MR. QUINN:  It's the position, sir, to understand how the pipeline is being used and the available capacity.  People in the market do track, in terms of information that is available.  My limited understanding and we can check are with the panel is while Vector Canada doesn't have to post its amount of capacity that it is available, Vector does.

So by inference, people know what is available on Vector.  So to be able to track relative pipeline paths and to know what may be available, that information is helpful to the market in terms of making decisions whether it wants to talk to Dawn Gateway, talk to Vector or the other alternative paths.

It would be a piece of factual information that is not time bound or shouldn't have anything to do with operational cost.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry, Mr. Quinn, your question was:  Would we keep it posted for two days?

MR. QUINN:  No, sorry, Mr. Isherwood.  My question was if there is an issue with being able to post subsequent NAESB windows, you may or may not be post interruptible basis.  What I’m asking is:  Would you be willing at the end of the – whatever the business day is - to post what was used on that day then your 2:00 p.m. nomination window.  It is just what was used on the previous business day.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  On the first nomination window, we post what actually was nominated relative to the name plate capacity.  At the end of the day what was actually used relative to the name plate capacity.

MR. QUINN:  Relative to the name plate – well, I guess operationally available is, in my view, better than name plate.  You know what was operationally available and what percentage was used.  That would be a more helpful number.

MS. WONG:  Mr. Quinn, may I jump in and ask is there some requirement in STAR to post the previous day's capacity?

MR. QUINN:  There is not in the previous day.  It is actually intra-day, to be available to post the available capacity.  The panel is being asked to be relieved and exempted from that qualification, so we are saying:  Provide the information post.  At least that provides the market that level of information.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the important part of the proposal we made after break was relative to the name plate capacity because is it a fairly simple calculation.  It’s just what was nominated relative to the 360 decatherms the pipe was designed to.

MR. QUINN:  At the end of the day, DTE would know if it did sell additional IT capacity, it would know what was utilized?  Is that accurate?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  So let's take an example.  Let's assume that 340,000 was nominated.  We would post on the first nomination window that 40,000 decatherms, unsold.

MR. KAISER:  What he wants, I guess, is the following day to know what, if any of the 40,000 you sold.  Is that correct?

MR. QUINN:  That's accurate, sir.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  One thing you have to get involved in a little bit, is the 40,000 is actually a daily number.  So if somebody nominated halfway through the day, even though you have 40,000 showing for the day, by the time you are halfway through the day, by the time you get halfway through the day, you really only have 20,000 at that point.  So half the day has expired.  It becomes kind of a difficult way -- I am not sure how you even show that.

MR. QUINN:  How would Union show the operational –

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We would be showing it all four windows so it is going to be what is relative in the rest of the day.  But when you are looking at the whole day, it becomes a more complicated ...

MR. QUINN:  They would know what was available at all four windows, right, if that allows for better clarity to the marketplace then since that was approved on all four windows and they know that, then it is just a matter of posting the inaccurate information from the previous day.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think we should try and keep this really simple with the proposal.  So it was in the first nomination window showing what was unsold relative to name plate capacity.

MR. KAISER:  I am still not clear.  Let's say they had 40,000 available.

One day they sold 20,000.  The next day, let's say there was still 40,000 available and then sold 10,000.  How does that help the market know?  Some days they sold it.  Some days they didn't sell it.

MR. QUINN:  And if they track that with pipeline flows, temperature compensation, whatever people are using to try to understand the value of service offerings in the market, that's one more additional piece of information which is consistent with what was trying to be achieved in STAR that everybody had the same level of information in the market.

MR. KAISER:  You are not going to get that information for Vector, are you?

MR. QUINN:  By implication, sir, you won't have Vector Canada but you will have Vector, and since the gas doesn't stop at the border you would know what flowed on through Vector to Dawn.

MR. KAISER:  So are you saying that the market has that kind of information from Vector one way or another?

MR. QUINN:  On the American side, yes.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think Vector also stops at Belle River Mills so they would be dropping gas there as well so it may not be the same number going all the way through, would be my understanding but ...

MR. BAKER:  I guess that is where I am struggling as well in terms of what incremental value that is providing of us having to post the information.  We thought we were being helpful coming back and saying we will post the remaining capacity available in the first nomination window and it just turns into, you know, another ask as well.

I think I will go back to the earlier one where we are trying to --

MR. KAISER:  Maybe you should with draw your first offer.

MR. BAKER:  The thought crossed my mind.  I guess my preference is, is that we would, is that we would do as we committed to do and post the available capacity on the first nomination window.  I am really struggling with the incremental value we are going to get on having to post at the ends of the day how much in your example, Mr. Chairman, how much of the 40 a day that was available actually flowed, you know, all day, part-way through the day.

I am struggling with that.

MR. KAISER:  Well, let's move on.  We will take it under advisement, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you sir.

MR. KAISER:  And see if we can move this along.  Are you ready to proceed?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Djurdjevic:

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  You have indicated in section 4, schedule 3, the statement of tolls, the capped rate of $1 for firm and $2 for interruptible service and you have also indicated that I think during Mr. Thompson’s cross-examination that you don't yet have a fixed cap, fixed rate cap that you are going to seek from the Michigan regulator.

And my question is, why would you be seeking anything different from what you are seeking from this Board?  Shouldn't it be the same?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Our expectation is that the Michigan tariffs will be very similar if not identical to what we filed in this hearing.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  All right.  In the earlier case, the 0411, we heard a lot about how the Dawn Gateway line is going to be providing integrated point-to-point service so would it not stand to reason that you would want very similar or identical price caps on both sides of the border in order to be able to do that?

MR. BAKER:  I think we are agreeing with you, that that is what we want.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.

There was some discussion about other NEB-regulated group 2 companies.  Do they all file a maximum rate instead of an actual toll?  Or is it the other way around?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think there is a variety of cases.  I am not sure there’s a very consistent answer in that regard.  I read a few of the various decisions on group 2 pipes and they're quite different between them.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, to the best of your ability, or to your knowledge or information, where do most of them fall?  Or could you give examples of some that do it one way and some examples of some that do it another way?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Not from the top of mind.  But, generally speaking, they quite often will have negotiated rates.  It is a matter of what the terms and conditions around the rate structure is.  In fact, Vector is a good example.  They have a negotiated maximum rate.  That is what their shippers agreed to.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Staff's understanding about Vector is that it is actually under a cost-based rates regulated by FERC, and then they just take those rates and file them with the NEB under its group 2 status.

That sounds like it is different from purely negotiated rates.

MR. BAKER:  I think that is right.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I will move on to the response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 5.  You indicate that the Dawn Gateway line is going to be an at-risk pipeline and the Board need not make any determination as to whether the negotiated rates are just and reasonable.

Now, why -- and then I think this was offered as a response or an answer to why Dawn Gateway LP would not file actual tolls with the Board, so the market participants could determine if the tolls are just and reasonable.

Are you suggesting -- the fact it is an at-risk pipeline, in and of itself, doesn't seem to preclude the otherwise sensible requirement to post actual tolls.  Would you agree with me or...

MR. BAKER:  I guess I come back to what we have talked about previously, is that we feel that we offered up the service through a transparent open season in the market.  Customers bid for what they thought the value was worth, and that in my mind gives you the comfort that the rates that they're willing to pay are just and reasonable.  They're the rates that they found they're willing to pay in the marketplace.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, a number of parties have covered this, so I won't beat it to death, but, I mean, this type of transparency in the market is essential to complaint-based regulation.

The fact that somebody was willing to pay the price at some point does not necessarily make it just and reasonable, the argument would go.

So how do you foresee that without this information, market participants would have enough information to know whether a complaint is warranted or not?

MR. BAKER:  Again, I would step back.  There is a couple of things.  I mean, to the extent that a shipper -- the shippers that we've got precedent agreements with, to the extent that they have stepped up and signed a contract, I would find it -- I find it hard to imagine a situation where they would come back and complain that the toll isn't just and reasonable.

We didn't force them to contract.  They contract through the open season by their own free will.

The other part of your question, I think, was:  How does the market know?  I think we have talked about a couple of things this morning.  One is that through the filing of our financial statements and the index of customers that we've talked about, there will be -- people will be able to do an average rate calculation.

And so there will be -- you know, there will be that information that is available to the market, as well, combined with the fact that, as we have tried to say many times, what somebody paid for transportation capacity 12 months ago really isn't going to be relevant today, because the value of that capacity is going to change every day, every week, every year.

And it is really going to be based on what parties' perceive that value to be in the marketplace, not what somebody else paid 12 months ago.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Are most or all of group 2 pipelines at-risk pipelines, as you describe?  I mean, you don't have to have it down to the exact number, but to the best of your knowledge.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  There are some pipelines that are at risk and there are others that have less risk.  Again, every one is sort of a case-by-case basis.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  You have indicated, both in the 0411 hearing and here, that Union is one of shippers on the Dawn Gateway line.

Is Union going to be selling the capacity, transportation and storage, as a bundled service?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's going to be selling the capacity as a Dawn-based storage.  So today, in fact as recently, we went to mark with open season on storage and we offered the market storage through the open season, and going forward we will just add the capacity we bought on MichCon, in terms of storage capacity, and add that to our portfolio of assets we need to sell.

When we go to market, we will be going to market as Dawn-based storage.  There will be -- no one will see or understand or be a part of what is happening behind the scenes and how we create that storage.  It will show up as Dawn-based storage.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Now, are these services going to be sold into the secondary market?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Going into the unregulated market?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  When you say "Dawn-based storage", I think I understand it, but that would be not only storage you actually had at Dawn, but you might have Michigan storage that you were using, and then bringing the gas to Dawn and selling it there.  That would constitute Dawn-based storage?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. KAISER:  How significant is that going to be once this pipeline is built?  In other words, put differently, how much will this increase the amount of storage you can sell as Dawn-based storage?

MR. BAKER:  I think at this point in time we are not looking to expand that a lot more significantly, in terms of what we have now.  We are looking for the market to step up and use the rest of that capacity.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry, Mr. Chair, are you --

MR. KAISER:  That's fine.  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Going back to my earlier question, I misunderstood your answer.

I understand that the service is going to be sold in the competitive market, but, as I understand, there is still a distinction whether it is the primary or secondary market, wholesalers and marketers.  I mean, of the shippers that have contracted on this line, are most of them wholesalers and marketers?

MR. BAKER:  Contracted on Dawn Gateway?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes.  Of the five shippers that entered into precedent agreements.

MR. BAKER:  They would be marketers.

MS. WONG:  All of them?

MR. BAKER:  Yes.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Other than Union Gas.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  But Union Gas is going to also -- it could go into this sort of secondary retail market, as well, with its own portfolio, just as the other shippers are?

MR. BAKER:  I guess I am not following your distinction between the secondary market.  The services that Union sells, whether it is our own physical unregulated storage at Dawn or the product that we have been talking about with MichCon and a Dawn Gateway contract, is a wholesale storage contract that we sell into the market.

Then what the parties contract with that storage, what they do with it, that is the secondary market, and they operate it the way they operate it.  We are -- that is transparent to us.  We don't know.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  This seemed to be the way of the future for this line, that it seems that it is for, as you said yourself, sophisticated shippers, but it also seems that they are wholesalers and marketers and that -- I mean, this is not gas that is going into the in-franchise market for distribution.  I mean, it is going to be retailed?

MR. BAKER:  Again, I am not sure I see the difference in some ways.  You could have a marketer that is bringing gas across Dawn Gateway to sell into the retail market at Dawn.

So that gas may very well end up burned on a retail basis within Ontario.  It is just that they're the ones that are selling that commodity.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  In response to Board Staff Interrogatory 10, you have indicated that the NEB applies the following criteria to determine group 1 or group 2 status:  First, the size of the facility; secondly, whether the pipeline transports commodities from any third parties; and, thirdly, whether the pipeline is regulated under traditional cost of service framework.

Would Dawn Gateway be receptive to the Board adopting these criteria for Union in this case?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The way that paragraph starts, actually, I read that myself a few times preparing for the hearing, but it is -- actually, before the guidelines got developed, the ones that are attached in the evidence here, if you go back to the read some of the cases that the NEB had written, they would often and very often refer to those three criteria.

If you go to the NEB guidelines now for group 2, you won't actually see those same criteria.  They have sort of evolved beyond that.  But I think we are just trying to provide some help that historically, NEB certainly has used those as criteria.  Not so much in the current guideline that came out last fall.  But certainly it is an option.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  All right.

And in your discussion with Mr. Mondrow, you will recall that you talked about the NEB criteria and if I understood correctly, Dawn Gateway takes no issue with this Board adopting the criteria that the NEB has for purposes of granting Dawn Gateway group 2 equivalent status in Ontario.

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Also part of the discussion you had with Mr. Mondrow was whether there is, or not -- well, there is in your view, sufficient competition from other pipelines coming into Dawn.

How would Dawn Gateway respond, if one of the additional criteria imposed by this Board was a market power analysis, so an assessment of whether there is sufficient competition in this area?

MR. BAKER:  We are not -- we are not seeking -- our application is not to seek that it is a fully competitive market and do a competitive market analysis.  That is not what we are seeking.

We are seeking regulatory framework, as we have said, consistent with group 2 for an at risk pipeline.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  My question, though, was if this Board decided that you need to go do this, how would Union respond?  Sorry, Dawn Gateway.

MR. BAKER:  Well, I think about the hypothetical, it would be if there was -- if there was a concern about this Board, by this Board on that issue, and they made it a condition that we do a competitive market analysis before group 2 type regulation would be provided, then I would say that we would -- I don't think the project would go forward.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would add that the NEB doesn't make that requirement of group 2 companies.  Those group 2 companies, there are dozens of them, and the market analysis is not done in advance of any of those.  It is all done through complaints.  The comfort is through complaints regulation.

MR. BAKER:  And I think the comfort that I think this Board should take is that at the time when Dawn Gateway when went out to the market as we have talked about, there are a number of other pipelines that were offering service, had open seasons at the same sometime.  Vector, TransCanada.

And so there are clearly other options that are out there.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.

MR. KAISER:  You have touched on this, but which are the lines that you would regard as direct competitors to Dawn Gateway?  You mentioned Vector.  You mentioned TCPL-Dawn-Eclipse.  Is Ojibway a direct competitor?

MR. BAKER:  Ojibway gas competes there.  You had the TransCanada, what was it, Dawn Express where they were looking to build actually a new pipeline into Ontario from southern Michigan.

MR. KAISER:  Would Panhandle compete directly or not?

MR. BAKER:  Yes, yes.  All of those pipelines are competing to get gas into Ontario and into Dawn.

MR. KAISER:  And you mentioned at the time you went to an open season, two others were in open season.  I think it was Vector and TCPL-Dawn-Eclipse.

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. KAISER:  How often do these guys go to open season?  Is that just a fluke that three of them were in open season at the same time?

MR. BAKER:  I think all pipeline companies are looking at what are the conditions in the marketplace?  What are the basis differentials between two points, and is there a market need for capacity that would support going to an open season.

So whether it was a fluke or not, I think probably all companies were looking at the differentials that were there between Michigan and Ontario --

MR. KAISER:  I guess what I was leading up to was, you go to an open season when you are thinking of building something.  Right?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. KAISER:  So if three companies decide that they're going to go to open season at roughly the same time, there is three different companies thinking there is a demand for moving gas from Michigan to Dawn.  Is that right?

MR. BAKER:  That's right.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the one change in the market that has happened recently is that Rockies Express Pipeline coming across, bringing the Rockies gas as far as Ohio, so certainly one of our interests is getting some of that gas up into Michigan and across Ontario, and I know at least one of the TransCanada proposals was doing the same.  I would suspect some of the other projects were doing the same as well.  So it is kind of a change in the environment, this new supply coming into Ohio and trying to track that into Michigan and over to Ontario.  That may be why you saw three happening kind of coincidentally.

MR. KAISER:  There is certainly more gas available down south of the border?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Now, whatever criteria this Board decides to adopt and to impose on Dawn Gateway, would you be receptive to the Board conducting periodic reviews of your status?  For example, I don't know every two or five years so that if, you know, some aspect of your business changed and it no longer met the criteria, it would lose its alternative group 2-type status, how would you -- how would Dawn Gateway respond to that?  Or do you believe that you know once you grant us this -- if or when you grant this type of regulatory framework, it is now -- forever?

MR. BAKER:  I think what we would say is that we would look for it to be perpetual and by its very nature, in terms of a complaint-based mechanism, what we would hope and expect is that if we're able to operate the pipeline and there isn't complaints to ourselves and to the Board, that that would be evidence that the alternate form of regulation is working in the market.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Just a question or two about NGEIR and how that fits into the proceeding before us today.

In the NGEIR decision, the Board stated that a key consideration is to ensure that new innovative services are developed and offered into the market.

Now, if you find that shippers are requesting new services such as additional firm nomination windows to match the flexibility of the M12 transportation path, will Dawn Gateway or DTE develop these types of services?

MR. BAKER:  I think, as a pipeline company you are always looking to respond to what the market is looking for.

So if the market is looking for that kind of a service or a match service, to match up with either services that may be provided upstream of Dawn Gateway or downstream, we would certainly be open and would be looking to that in the future.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Are there any physical limitations on the pipeline that would prevent developing any additional services?

MR. BAKER:  I don't believe there are.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Part of the NEB's jurisdiction reaches to abandonment of pipelines, which as you may be aware is outside of the jurisdiction of this Board.

How do you propose that aspect be dealt with?  Do you see that as something that will remain with NEB jurisdiction or some other agency?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Our proposal would be the abandonment should be consistent with the Ontario regulation.

MS. WONG:  And with respect to that, the next panel will have people on the technical nature who can deal with the technical aspects, but just on your last point, Ms. Cochrane, I don't see how NEB jurisdiction would apply in any shape or form because this is an OEB line.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Right.  And in the 0411 proceeding, you indicated that you wanted approvals to be in place until December 31, 2003.

And the reason given in that hearing, in that proceeding was that the requisite approvals were expected to take that long and -- what has changed since then?

MR. BAKER:  Oh, I think many things have changed.

I mean, this project has had lots of twists and turns that I don't think any of us contemplated when we started off on it.  I mean we've -- we started at NEB.  We have pulled that application.  We have refiled with the OEB.  We are here before this Board today seeking alternate rate, an alternate rate framework under the Board's jurisdiction.

So there has been many things that have changed, that have actually put, I think, a greater sense of urgency on our part that if we are going to do this project, we need to get on with it now.  Based on the cost that we have been able to try to lock in in terms of pipeline costs and contractor costs.

So that is what is, I think, elevated our urgency in terms of an in-service date.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Just to correct the record, I believe I said December 31, 2003.  It is 2013.

In response to Board Staff IR No. 13, and a lot of discussion on this, Dawn Gateway has indicated it accepts nominations at 2:00 p.m. and the remaining NAESB windows on a commercially reasonable basis only.

Could you explain what you would -- how you define "commercially reasonable basis"?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I should start by just stating what Dawn Gateway's nomination procedure is.

It is prepared to be compliant with the first NAESB nomination window, which is actually at 12:30.

I think interchangeably throughout the day I probably mentioned the MichCon system that operates not to NAESB standards, but to their own standard, and their window is 2:00 p.m., but Dawn Gateway's standard will be NAESB on the first window at 12:30.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I'm sorry, the second will be at 2:00?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.  No.  It is in the toll schedule.  I don't know the times exactly.  I think it is 5:30 or something.  Anyway, it is in the tariff.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So my question was just about additional windows and what you consider commercially reasonable basis for offering additional windows.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the first issue that Gateway has is the person doing the nominations on behalf of Dawn Gateway is just one person operating basically five days during the week during business hours and on call after that.

So to the extent somebody needs to make a change, it is sort of best efforts basis between that person's availability, getting back to the gas control and all of the interactions between them and gas control, but there is typically somebody on call for the other three windows.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  What mechanism is in place to provide market participants and the Board with information to see if there is any withholding of capacity?

MR. BAKER:  Again, we are -- we have agreed to comply with STAR.  We've got a code of conduct.

The whole notion of withholding capacity is not something that Dawn Gateway ascribes to at all.

We are -- our goal in life is to sell capacity in the marketplace, not withhold it.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, the only reason I ask that is because the withholding capacity could drive up the price, and now you have indicated that you would be complying with STAR and your code of conduct.

What provisions in those, in STAR and your code of conduct, do you think specifically deal with that, prevent that withholding?

MR. BAKER:  The overall purpose of any code, whether it is a code of business ethics, both Spectra and DTE have this code of conduct.  It all goes to the very nature of the principles that we're going to operate from, and I can tell you that there is -- there's going to be no withholding of capacity.

I mean, as a pipeline company, probably the number 1 asset that you have is your reputation, and there is just not - and I know we have talked about this notion of withholding capacity in the past, and I can tell you it is just foreign for us that are in the marketplace, because we are so geared to selling capacity and taking capacity out of the market that the whole notion of trying to withhold it -- because there will be someone else that will step in and provide it, and we want to be the one -- we want to be the one that provides it.

So I think when you've got code of business ethics that we've talked about, we've got a code of conduct that we've committed to on behalf of Dawn Gateway, I think the underlying principle on all of those things means that that is not the way we're going to operate this pipeline.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Just to clarify these codes, in response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 8, we asked about what measures would prevent potential abuse of non-public information.  You referred to a code of business ethics.

Now, those are Spectra and DTE codes, right, and those haven't even been provided in any of the evidence that's been filed?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  They're all public.  They're all on the web.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, but they're Spectra and DTE codes.  I mean, how do they bind Dawn Gateway?

MR. BAKER:  Because Dawn Gateway is owned by Spectra and DTE, and we have bound that together by a separate DTE code -- or, I mean, a Dawn Gateway code.

So any employee, whether it is an employee of Spectra or an employee of DTE, that's working on Dawn Gateway, they're ultimately an employee of Spectra and DTE and they are -- they are obligated to be bound by the code.  That's why it is there.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  But the very nature -- I mean, Spectra and DTE's business is not the business of Dawn Gateway.  So, I mean, not having seen this code of business ethics, I really can't ask very, you know --

MR. BAKER:  The business of Spectra and DTE is the business of providing storage, transmission and distribution services in the market.  That's our business.

And so that CODE of conduct applies whether it is Dawn Gateway, whether it is a Spectra subsidiary like Union, or A DTE subsidiary like MichCon.  It is all encompassed for every part of their business.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So as far as Dawn Gateway is concerned, it considers itself bound by the code of business ethics of Spectra and DTE?

MR. BAKER:  Definitely.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  If not its parent company, its related entities?

Now, the --

MR. KAISER:  Just to that point, there may come a day when Dawn Gateway actually has employees?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  It could.

MR. KAISER:  So the code could be -- I guess to take counsel's point, could be clear that it was binding on any officers or employees of Dawn Gateway, as well as of course DTE and Union and any of the other parties?

MR. BAKER:  I think the way it is set up is any related parties, I think is the phrase that is often used.

MR. KAISER:  Right.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  The document that you have produced that applies specifically to Dawn Gateway LP is the code of conduct, which is Exhibit K1.6.

Would you say that that code explicitly includes protocols or policies that will prevent Dawn Gateway, DTE, Union, MichCon or Spectra from accessing non-public transportation and storage information?

MR. BAKER:  That is definitely the overall intent.  That's right.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, which provisions would you say specifically --

MR. BAKER:  Well, no preferential treatment, there's a section on related-party transactions.  There is a section on information that is to be kept confidential.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  And --

MR. BAKER:  I think all of it.  It is the overall intent and spirit of the code.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  How would you ensure -- the problem we struggle with here is that, you know, your position is that ARC doesn't apply.  So, you know, what we're left with is what kind of codes and rules or provisions can be imposed on Dawn Gateway, either that it willingly, voluntarily assumes or that this Board will impose on it, that prevents other entities from getting -- like, third parties that are -- related parties of Dawn Gateway having access to non-public information.

I give you as an example Union finds out about an upcoming transportation open season that isn't publicly available, or, conversely, Dawn Gateway finds out that Union is going to have an upcoming storage open season.

How do you prevent those kinds of disclosures from occurring?  Like, how does this code deal with that, because, you know, my reading of it is that it doesn't, you know, preclude -- prevent that kind of disclosure?

MR. BAKER:  I think it does prevent it.

When you read the paragraph on information kept confidential, Dawn Gateway will not use any information or data that is disclosed to Dawn Gateway by third parties for system purposes or to advance the activities of a related party.

So Dawn Gateway would be prevented from disclosing in advance, you know, upcoming open season or information that they have come across by virtue of operating the Dawn Gateway Pipeline.

But, you know, I would say, as well, for the Board, I mean, on any code of business ethics or anything, the purpose of those are not to try to specify every specific circumstance that may -- that someone may conjure up.

It is the fact that there is a spirit of intent on those codes that says, if you are caught doing anything outside the intent of this code, you are going to be disciplined and you can be terminated.  And I can tell you that we take that very seriously, and every employee has to sign off on that every year.

And it is -- it is a big area of focus.  It probably wasn't there near to the same extent at the time we first put the Affiliate Relationship Code in as an example in 1999, but I can tell you that it is a significant area of focus at Spectra and I know at DTE, as well.

MR. KAISER:  I think, Mr. Baker, one of the problems may be that you know ARC is a Board document.  It has its own procedures.  And you have taken the words out of the December 6th, 1995 guideline of the NEB and you have put it in your standard general terms and conditions and that makes it, that statement, that little statement, if you will, an official term in a document that the Board has jurisdiction over.

And yet we have this ^Code which I think by all accounts is becoming an important document by your own admission.  And it is floating around on a website, sort of the disciplinary side being an internal disciplinary process within your companies that if somebody gets offside they can be disciplined.

I guess the -- in order to give it a little more stature and enforceability by the Board, which I think is probably what we're looking for, would there be any problem in the event the Board approves this application, of making the approval conditional on compliance with the Code?

MR. BAKER:  No, I don't think there is any issue with that.  We are prepared to comply with the Code.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Just to step back to my earlier questions about the code of business ethics of DTE and Spectra.

You said it is on your website but I wonder if you could undertake to provide copies tomorrow, just so that we are all singing from the same page, and to put it on the record of this proceeding.  Can we have that undertaking?

MR. BAKER:  Yes, we can do that.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I think this will be undertaking J1.2, because we deleted the earlier J1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO PROVIDE COPIES OF THE CODE OF BUSINESS ETHICS OF DTE AND SPECTRA

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We took one out so...

Just a couple of questions about your corporate structure which you set out in a diagram in response to Board Staff IR 20.

Dawn Gateway, as we know, is comprised of two new regulated entities.  On the Ontario side, the Dawn Gateway Limited Partnership, also known as the triangle on schedule 1.  And the Dawn Gateway Limited Liability Corporation on the US side is the rectangle on the bottom of schedule 1.

Now, the US company structure seems fairly straightforward.  It seems that each of Spectra and DTE, through subsidiary, each own 50 percent of Dawn Gateway LLC.  On the Ontario side, however, there seems to be much more complex arrangement of partnerships.

Can you tell us what the rationale is for using such a complex structure on the Ontario side as compared to the US side?  You may not be -- you may want to do this by way of undertaking and punt it over to your counsel.

MR. BAKER:  I don't even think by way of undertaking.  I think in both of our companies, issues of how we structure the company corporately are driven by treasury considerations, tax considerations.  But I think that the point here, although it may look complicated, is a limited partnership structure with a general partner limited partners.

So there is a lot of boxes there, but I think when you boil it down, it is not as complicated as it looks.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, there must -- there must be some benefits in terms of, you know, tax or other types of benefits.  I am just wondering if you can tell us what those are.

MR. BAKER:  I don't know what all of those are, because I was not involved in the set-up, up above Dawn Gateway Limited Partnership in terms of how that would be structured.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Can we get an undertaking, perhaps from counsel, to just maybe perhaps briefly tell us about this.

MS. WONG:  I am struggling, Ms. Cochrane, with relevance and the reality is that it is going to be all primarily tax-driven.

The corporations are already set up.  That's the way it has been organized.  I am just not sure what difference it makes.

MR. KAISER:  Why do we care if they – this undoubtedly will be their answer, they have structured the organization to reduce taxes, which seems to be the suggestion, what's that got to do with us?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Nothing.  If that is the case, if this is done for very good business reasons, and I am sure that it is, we would just like to have it on the record what those are, because my next question is about whether there is any advantages from a regulatory standpoint to doing it in Ontario through this series of limited partnerships, whereas on the Michigan side it seemed quite straightforward all along, you know they're going to be regulated by the Michigan regulator, straightforward subsidiaries of the parent companies.  I am just wondering what -- what it translates into of any differences in terms of regulatory treatment.

MS. WONG:  I am not aware that it has any difference at all for regulatory treatment.  It really was primarily tax-driven.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  That's fine.  I don't need the -- don't need to go into that any further.

In response to Board Staff Interrogatory 23, you indicated that Dawn Gateway will contract with Union Gas for corporate services, field services and for the initial development phase of the Ontario portion of the project.

And last Friday you filed some of these documents.  The services agreement is Exhibit K1.7.  And I think we heard earlier there is only one schedule to the field -- only one schedule and it is for field services, correct?  Only one schedule to the services agreement?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  What schedule are you referring to?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Exhibit K1.7.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  There is only one contract.  The field service contract is K1.7.  Actually the title is called services agreement.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes.  And there is a schedule to it, service schedule number 1, and that is for field services.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  In response to interrogatory 23, you indicated that in corporate services agreement would also be entered into, but that does not seem to be covered in the services agreement.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That would be schedule number 2 but it is not yet negotiated or developed yet.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  But the intent would be it would be a schedule to the main body of the main service agreement.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  When do you expect to conclude that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We have not really started it yet so it would be a while yet.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That would deal with -- the use of, you know, executives and managers from Union and service of the Dawn Gateway project?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It would be more around financial services, accounting, tax, insurance I think goes in there as well.  Those type of things.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Do you have a fee set for that service yet?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We do not.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Going back to the services, the field services agreement.

You fixed a fee of $81,000.  Can you tell us how that was arrived at?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The field services agreement will be performed primarily from our people at the Dawn compressor station.  They're the ones that do the field maintenance on the lines in and around Dawn.

The way that $81,000 was arrived at was they looked, over the past three years, what the maintenance has been on the existing St. Clair line.  That's the one being sold for 5.2 million, so they have records on that one.

They obviously don't have records on the new pipeline, but as a proxy what they used was the existing Bickford to Dawn storage line which runs parallel to the new pipeline.

In fact they will be on overlapping easements, so as a proxy for the new pipeline they use existing Bickford to Dawn pipeline as a proxy.

And they added up the hours, they picked the highest of the last three years of the combined effort of those two pipelines, broke the hours down between technical people which would be non-union as well as unionized people and management, and came up with the number of hours, applied a fully allocated cost to that, and came up with $75,000 in annual cost and then added, if you read the service schedule, there is a provision to pay $5,000 kind of out of pocket for miscellaneous expenses, so they added $5,000 to the 75,000 to get to the 80,000.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  If the cost of the services -- well, let me ask you this.  I mean, how are you going to track -- are you going to track the hours that are actually spent by Union personnel and what their hourly rates are to see whether it is -- it actually costs $81,000, or more or less?

MR. TUCKWELL:  No.  We will be -- sorry about that.  Again, we will be going back to the 2007 cost allocation study as our starting point for getting those costs over, and those have been updated and will be updated annually based on estimates of how long it will take someone to do the operations on those types of activities.

There are certain activities that, yes, we will be tracking by hours, but there are also certain activities that it is virtually impossible to do that, which is why we go to the allocation.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  What types of activities could you not track?

MR. TUCKWELL:  It would be the indirect overheads, like HR, finance, those type of items, so in order to get you that fully loaded factor.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And what will -- say the cost, you know, you keep track of the hours and the hourly rate, and it turns out it is actually $100,000?

Would Union be paid for the $19,000 extra -- would it be paid the $100,000 or just the $81,000 that is fixed in the contract?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The field services is a fixed-price contract with a 3 percent escalator.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  If Union employees spent more time and money on the Dawn Gateway project than envisaged in its contract, they're not going to be paid for it and that is going to be assumed by Union?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It becomes a shareholder expense at that point in time.

MR. BAKER:  I think what --

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Union's shareholder I guess would --

MR. BAKER:  I was just going to say what we envision under a services agreement, though, because we have operated the pipelines, is it likely, to the extent we are going to spend more time, it will be something out of a routine nature.

So it will be some sort of non-routine item that we have to do, and there is provision in the agreement to recognize those types of things.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I have similar questions about the project development agreement, which are Exhibit K1.8.

There, the fixed fee -- what is it?  Maybe you can help me out.  The project development agreement also includes fixed fees, if I recall.

MR. BAKER:  It includes a two-and-a-half-million-dollar management fee that we spoke about earlier this morning.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes.

MR. BAKER:  And a $700,000 success fee.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Right.  Okay.

So it does not appear to be accounting -- well, I am looking at article 6.01, which requires the project developer, which is Union, to keep full and complete account of the costs and expense incurred by project developer on behalf of owner.

Would that include tracking the time spent by Union employees on the Dawn Gateway project?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.  That is intended to cover contractor costs, primarily.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  All right.  So how is the time going to be tracked for Union staff that it spent -- the time that is spent on the Dawn Gateway project, because it is not captured in this agreement?

MR. BAKER:  I think it is the same way as Mr. Tuckwell mentioned, in terms of our internal process, in terms of looking at who is dedicating time to the Dawn Gateway project.

We allocate those costs over the same way we would in terms of our unregulated storage business, and, to the extent, on the success fee, as an example, if we were not successful in bringing the project in on budget and, therefore, couldn't charge the -- could not charge the $700,000 fee, that fee would not be charged to Dawn Gateway, and that would be a shareholder cost at Union.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I am just not following.  Where does it say, because it is not in the project development agreement, Dawn Gateway will pay X amount to Union for the work that Union personnel does on the Dawn Gateway project?  Do we have that anywhere in the agreements?

MR. BAKER:  That is really the success fee.  That covers the work that Union is doing on behalf of Dawn Gateway to manage the construction.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And that $700,000 is at risk, though?

MR. BAKER:  That's right, that's right.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So it is quite conceivable that Union employees could spend $1 million worth of time on the Dawn Gateway project, and they don't come in on budget and they get nothing?  Union gets nothing?

MR. BAKER:  Well, I think we have spent quite a bit of time on this project to know what we think the amount of time and effort is going to be to manage the project.

So I certainly hope that we are better than the $300,000 difference relative to what we have had.  But, yes, this agreement has gone through a lot of negotiation, as I mentioned.  There's been a lot of ups and downs on this project, and this agreement has been the subject of a lot of discussion between the partners.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So if Union does not meet its targets as required in this agreement, and it does not get paid the success fee, or anything, from what I could see so far, those costs are going to be absorbed by Union's shareholder?

MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.

This may be a -- it is a question for the panel, but it may also be for your counsel and you may want to do it by way of undertaking.

There is a decision of the Board in respect of Enbridge's rate application in 2006, file number EB-2005-0001, in which the Board discusses corporate cost allocation, which, in Staff's view, sets a standard for what must be done to allocate costs between regulated and unregulated businesses.

Now, in the Enbridge decision, it was within the utility, and the regulated and unregulated businesses within the utility in this case is a bit different, because you have related parties, but, in my submission, the principles in the Enbridge case should apply.

Has Dawn Gateway -- have Dawn Gateway and Union considered whether they are allocating costs consistent with the principles in the Enbridge decision and how they are doing that?  And if they're not conducting -- not allocating in that manner, why not, and why should it not be required to do so?

Like I say, you may want to do that by way of undertaking.  It might be a little fairer.

MR. BAKER:  I am certainly not familiar with the Enbridge decision that you have referenced.

MS. WONG:  We will take that by way of undertaking.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  All right.  That will be J1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO ADVISE WHETHER DAWN GATEWAY HAS CONSIDERED PRINCIPLES IN EB-2005-0001; IF NOT, WHY NOT.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, yes.  In response to CME's Interrogatory No. 1, you have stated that Dawn Gateway LLC, the US company, expects to develop transportation standards of conduct as part of its filing with the Michigan regulator.  Can you advise if that's been done?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I have not seen it, but it would be very similar again to the code that we filed in this case.  It would be something very similar.  It would serve the same purpose.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Have you seen these -- this document or these standards yourself, any of the panel?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I saw one that MichCon has.

MR. BAKER:  But, again, I would go back and just say the intention is clearly to have consistency, because the code of conduct that we have developed is -- applies to services or employees of Spectra, DTE that are working on behalf of the Dawn Gateway Pipeline.

So whether they're a Canadian employee or US employee, it won't matter.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, those are all of my questions.

Thank you, panel.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Do you have any re-examination?


MS. WONG:  I do not, sir.

MR. KAISER:  Did you want to proceed with your next panel?

MS. WONG:  It might be a good idea to canvass how long people are going to be.  I don't have anything as far as chief other than a few updates with them.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Thompson?

MR. THOMPSON:  No questions.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Mondrow?

MR. MONDROW:  No questions sir, thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Quinn?

MR. QUINN:  Maybe I can ask Ms. Wong if she can tell me.  We were talking this morning about the penalty provision that might be in place for the --

MS. WONG:  We are prepared to answer that.  So perhaps if you want the panel just to come in to answer that question.

MR. QUINN:  That's what I thought Mr. Alexander or somebody like that could do that, if that would be helpful.

MR. KAISER:  You have one question then, sir?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  Ms. Cochrane?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Just a couple of questions.

MR. KAISER:  Well, why don't we swear them, put them on and see if we can --

MS. WONG:  Let's get it done.

MR. KAISER:  Yes.

MS. WONG:  Thank you.
DAWN GATEWAY PIPELINE LIMITED – PANEL 2

Gerard Mallette; Sworn.


Doug Alexander; Sworn.


Aurel Anton (Tony) Vadlja; Sworn.


Mervn Weishar; Sworn.

MS. WONG:  Before you all get seated maybe you could come on up and get sworn first, come up to Ms. Spoel.
Examination by Ms. Wong:

MS. WONG:  I will just make some brief introductions, Mr. Chairman, and this will be covered on the exhibit I filed this morning with the biography.  On the far end is Mr. Doug Alexander.  He is the director of engineering for Union Gas and has been with Union Gas since 1980.  He has a bachelor of engineer science civil and is a member of the Professional Engineers of Ontario.  Mr. Alexander's area of responsibility will be regarding the constructing and operating of the proposed Dawn Gateway facilities.

Next to him is Mr. Jerry Mallette.  He is the manager projects and has been with Union Gas since 1990.  He has a bachelor of applied sciences civil engineering.  He is a member of the Professional Engineers of Ontario.  His area of responsibility will be the plan and constructing of the facilities Dawn is proposing to construct.


Next to him is Mr. Vadlja who is a senior technical specialist for constructing permitting with Union Gas, and has a bachelor of science in resources management, and he will speaking about environmental issues and permitting issues.

Next to him is Mr. Merv Weishar who is the senior lands agent for Union Gas and he is here to speak on matters relating to the lands matters and the landowner agreements reached with the GAPLO land owners.

I have a couple of matters just to clean up as far as updates.

The first one is for Mr. Weishar who is, as I say, the lands agent.  In section 8 of the prefiled evidence that relates to the lands matters.  That evidence was updated on February 22, to reflect the fact that Dawn Gateway has entered into a settlement agreement with the land owners.

And if you can turn to paragraph 92 of that evidence, and paragraph 93, and if you look at paragraph 93, it says that there is only one other landowner along the route who was not listed in the minutes of settlement that was filed.

Perhaps you can provide us with an update about that one particular situation.

MR. WEISHAR:  Yes.  We have recently met with that landowner and she has signed acceptance letter, and she is in agreement with the settlement agreement.

MS. WONG:  Other than Enbridge, is there any other landowner along the proposed route that needs to reach agreement with Dawn Gateway?

MR. WEISHAR:  Only Union at both ends, the Bickford end and Dawn end.

MS. WONG:  Thank you.

MR. WEISHAR:  We are not anticipating any problems.

MS. WONG:  Other than update are you aware of any other changes that need to be made to the evidence in section 8?

MR. WEISHAR:  No, I am not.

MS. WONG:  Thank you.  The other clean-up matter is for Mr. Vadlja who is the lead environmental planner.

Since that last evidence update, I understand that the Ministry of Natural Resources sent a letter to the Ontario Pipeline Coordinating Committee with some comments dated February 19, 2010.  Is that right?

MR. VADLJA:  That's correct.

MS. WONG:  I just provided copies of that letter to Ms. Cochrane and Board Staff and they can hand up copies to the panel.

Perhaps we can mark that as an exhibit, just for the sake of completeness as comments into the OPCC.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be Exhibit K1.14.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.14:  LETTER DATED FEBRUARY 19, 2010 FROM MINISTRY OF NATURAL RESOURCES TO THE ONTARIO PIPELINE COORDINATING COMMITTEE

MS. WONG:  Are you aware of any other changes, sir, to the environmental evidence or any other updates needed to the environmental evidence filed with the Board?

MR. VADLJA:  No, I'm not.

MS. WONG:  That's the examination in-chief, sir.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Quinn.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  Thank you, sir, for -- with respect to the time that we have at the end of the day, I am not sure if I should be speaking, which panel member to be speaking to.  But we had some discussion this morning regarding the March 11th date for the pipe order and some risks associated with not having approval by March 11th.

Who on the panel will be willing to speak to that?

MR. MALLETTE:  That would be me.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Mr. Mallette.  What was at issue is the concern about the time frame we are on and what are the risks of getting an approval from the Board beyond March 11th.

Can you tell us what the penalty impact would be or what impact would be if Union had to cancel the pipe order one week after March 11th?

MR. MALLETTE:  The effects would be significant.  We have already gone back to the pipe mill and asked them to extend the deadline from February 26th to March 11th which they were able to do.

But that is about all they can do.

Because the pipe mill must order the steel the next day on March 12th, once they order that steel, any cancellation after that point Dawn Gateway would be responsible for the full cost of the steel.

And that is about two-thirds of the pipe, the pipe, the price of the pipe.  So it is very significant dollar figure.

The reason that they have to order at that time is that they have other orders that they have in the cue and they need to use that mill space after that.

So if we don't confirm and keep our mill space that we currently have, we are going to lose it and we will have to get back in the cue and the pipe would be manufactured later.

So the pipe delivery then would be delayed until probably at least August, which is just too late for us to complete our construction by the November 1st in-service date.

MR. QUINN:  That's helpful.  Just a point of specificity.  The August date, was that what the mill has given you as the fall-back date?

MR. MALLETTE:  Well, that is a bit of an assumption, because once we lose our place in the queue, then we have to get back in it again.  So other companies could come forward and get that space that follows.  Right now we are first.  Then there is another company.  If we can't get in behind them, if somebody else comes along, then it could be even later.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I am just going to ask one more question.  Have you approached any of the other companies to switch places with you in the queue, so that the company that is behind you, allowing them to go forward, allowing you a greater window of discernment?

MR. MALLETTE:  That discussion has taken place and, again, we are now at the end of the line with this pipe mill.

MR. QUINN:  No other options?

MR. MALLETTE:  Not with this pipe mill.  We would have to go back out to the market and see if we can get quotes from other pipe mills that would be able to get us the dates that we need.

The indications at this point is that they would not be able to beat the August delivery date.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Ms. Cochrane?
Cross-Examination by Ms. Djurdjevic:


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  In your prefiled evidence, section 5, paragraph 39, you indicated that the Dawn Gateway Pipeline would have bidirectionability.  Do any of your contracts with the five shippers contemplate reversal of flow on the Dawn Gateway system?

MR. ALEXANDER:  I couldn't answer that question.  I am not familiar with the shippers who have actually signed the agreement with us, but the ability is there with the metering to go bidirectional if that occasion did happen to take place.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Under what circumstances do you expect that that might happen or that there would be a reversal of flow?

MR. ALEXANDER:  If there was a shortage of gas in Michigan, an emergency situation, we may have to pull gas out of Dawn and push it back towards -- we have done the same thing on Vector and other pipelines at the same time.

So I am not quite sure of the exact agreements now, but I know we have done it in emergency situations.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  The prefiled evidence indicates an in-service date for November 2010.  Is this still when you expect the line to be in service?

MR. MALLETTE:  November 1st, 2010 is our target in-service date.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And that is when you expect the gas will actually be flowing on the line; is that right?

MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  One more question.  In reference to Board Staff Interrogatory 42, you accepted all of Board Staff's proposed conditions of approval, with the exception of the -- you asked that the leave to construct terminate on December 31, 2011 instead of 2010.

Given the -- if you have the November 2010 in-service date, can you explain why you want to extend the approval time to the end of 2011?

MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.  That is to really cover off an extreme situation and so that we would not have to come back to the Board and ask for an extension.  But to give you a hypothetical of what could happen is that if we had, let's say, a railcar derail and spill a bunch of pipe that was unusable, we might not be able to complete it in 2010.

It would be a very rare situation, though.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Those are all of my questions.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Any re-examination?

MS. WONG:  No, sir.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you, panel.

(Witness panel withdraws]


MR. KAISER:  In terms of argument, gentlemen, ladies, what time do you want to start tomorrow?

MS. WONG:  Ten o'clock.

MR. KAISER:  Ten o'clock?  Mr. Thompson?  All right.  See you at 10 o'clock for argument.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:42 p.m.
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